

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Progress in Energy and Combustion Science

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/pecs

Fuel consumption and CO₂ emissions from passenger cars in Europe – Laboratory versus real-world emissions^{*}





Georgios Fontaras*, Nikiforos-Georgios Zacharof, Biagio Ciuffo

European Commission, Joint Research Centre, Directorate for Energy, Transport and Climate, Via Enrico Fermi 2749, 21027 Ispra, Italy

ARTICLE INFO

Article History: Received 13 April 2016 Accepted 27 December 2016 Available online xxx

Keywords: CO₂ emissions Certification cycle Real-world driving Fuel consumption gap Passenger cars

ABSTRACT

Official laboratory-measured monitoring data indicate a progressive decline in the average fuel consumption and CO2 emissions of the European passenger car fleet. There is increasing evidence to suggest that officially reported CO₂ values do not reflect the actual performance of the vehicles on the road. A reported difference of 30-40% between official values and real-world estimates was found which has been continuously increasing. This paper reviews the influence of different factors that affect fuel consumption and CO₂ emissions on the road and in the laboratory. Factors such as driving behaviour, vehicle configuration and traffic conditions are reconfirmed as highly influential. Neglected factors (e.g. side winds, rain, road grade), which may have significant contributions in fuel consumption in real world driving are identified. The margins of the present certification procedure contribute between 10 and 20% in the gap between the reported values and reality. The latter was estimated to be of the order of 40%, or 47.5 gCO₂/km for 2015 average fleet emissions, but could range up to 60% or down to 19% depending on prevailing traffic conditions. The introduction of a new test protocol is expected to bridge about half of the present divergence between laboratory and real world. Finally, substantial literature was found on the topic; however, the lack of common test procedures, analysis tools, and coordinated activity across different countries point out the need for additional research in order to support targeted actions for real world CO₂ reduction. Quality checks of the CO₂ certification procedure, and the reported values, combined with in-use consumption monitoring could be used to assess the gap on a continuous basis.

> © 2017 The Authors. Published by Elsevier Ltd. This is an open access article article under the CC BY-NC-ND license. (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/)

Contents

1.	Introduction	. 98
2	Background	100

E-mail address: georgios.fontaras@ec.europa.eu (G. Fontaras).

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.pecs.2016.12.004

0360-1285/© 2017 The Authors. Published by Elsevier Ltd. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license. (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/)

Abbreviations: 10-15 mode, Japanese Test Cycle, Phased Out From 2005 To 2011; A/C, Air Conditioning; ACEA, Association des Constructeurs Européens d'Automobiles - European Automobile Manufacturers' Association; ADAS, Advanced Driver Assistance Systems; ARS, Average Rectified Slope; ARTEMIS, Assessment and Reliability of Transport Emission Models and Inventory Systems; CO, Carbon Monoxide; CO2, Carbon Dioxide; CoC, Certificate Of Conformity; COPERT, Emissions Calculation Tool; Cw, Air drag coefficient; DISI, Direct Injection Spark Ignition; E2HPAS, Energy Efficient Hydraulic Power Assisted Steering System; E10, Fuel containing 10% ethanol; E85, Fuel containing 85% ethanol; EC, European Commission; EEA, European Environment Agency; EHPAS, Electro - Hydraulic Power Assisted Steering; EPA, Environmental Protection Agency; EPAS, Electric Power Assisted Steering; EU, European Union; EUDC, Extra-Urban Driving Cycle; EV, Electric Vehicle; FTP, Federal Test Procedure; GDP, Gross Domestic Product; GHG, Green House Gases; GPS, Global Positioning System; HBEFA, Handbook emission factors for road transport; HC, Hydrocarbons; HDV, Heavy Duty Vehicle; HPAS, Hydraulic Power Assisted Steering; HWFET, Highway Fuel Economy Test; ICT, Information And Communications Technology; IEA, International Energy Agency; IRI, International Roughness Index; JC08, Japanese Test Cycle, Phased In From 2005 To 2011; JRC, Joint Research Centre Of The European Commission; LDV, Light Duty Vehicles; LED, Light Emitting Diode; MPG, Miles Per Gallon (US Or UK Gallon); MPI-SI, Multipoint Injection -Spark Ignition; NEDC, New European Driving Cycle; NOx, Nitrogen Oxides; OEAMTC, Österreichische Automobil-, Motorrad- Und Touringclub; OEM, Original Equipment Manufacturer; PC, Passenger Cars; PEMS, Portable Emissions Measurement System; PM, Particulate Matter; RMS, Root Mean Square; RPM, Revolutions Per Minute; RR, Rolling Resistance; RRC, Rolling Resistance Coefficient; SC03, US driving cycle designed to measure exhaust emissions with the use of air-conditioning; SFTP, Supplemental Federal Test Procedure; SUV, Sports Utility Vehicle; UDC, Urban Driving Cycle; UDDS, Urban Dynamometer Driving Schedule; UK, United Kingdom; UN, United Nations; UNECE, United Nations Economic Commission For Europe ; US06, US driving cycle designed to measure exhaust emissions at high speeds and aggressive driving; VW, Volkswagen; WD, Wheel Drive (number of powered wheels); WLTC, Worldwide harmonized Test Cycle; WLTP, Worldwide harmonized Light Vehicle Test Procedure; WMTC, Worldwide harmonized Motorcycle Emissions Certification/Test Procedure.

^{*} The views expressed in the paper are purely those of the authors and may not be considered under any circumstance as an official position of the European Commission. Corresponding author.

	2.1.	. Regulatory framework			
	2.2.	Emissions measurements and road load determination			
	2.3.	Divergence of official and real-world emissions			
	2.4.	Eco-innovations	102		
3.	Vehio	cle characteristics and sub-systems	103		
	3.1.	Mass and road loads	103		
		3.1.1. Vehicle mass	103		
		3.1.2. Aerodynamic resistance	103		
		3.1.3. Rolling resistance and tyres	104		
		3.1.4. Factors affecting both mass and road loads	105		
	3.2.	Auxiliary systems	107		
		3.2.1. Air conditioning (cooling)	107		
		3.2.2. Heating (electric heating or A/C)	108		
		3.2.3. Steering assist systems	108		
		3.2.4. Other electrical consumers and auxiliaries	109		
		3.2.5. Eco-innovations related to electrical systems	109		
	3.3.	Friction and lubricants.	110		
	3.4.	Maintenance and ageing	110		
		3.4.1. Tyre maintenance and pressure	110		
		3.4.2. Other factors.	111		
4.	Envii	ronmental and traffic conditions	112		
	4.1.	Weather conditions	112		
		4.1.1. Rain and snow.	112		
		4.1.2. Ambient temperature	112		
		4.1.3. Cold-start	112		
		4.1.4. Wind conditions	113		
	4.2.	Altitude	114		
	4.3.	Road	114		
		4.3.1. Road grade	114		
		4.3.2. Road roughness and texture	115		
	4.4.	Traffic conditions and congestion	115		
5.	Drive	er and user related factors.	116		
	5.1.	Driving	116		
		5.1.1. Aggressive driving	116		
		5.1.2. Driving mode	117		
		5.1.3. Eco-driving	117		
		5.1.4. Four-wheel drive	117		
		5.1.5. ADAS	117		
	5.2.	Open windows	118		
	5.3.	Crupancy rates	118		
	5.4.	Fuel choice	119		
6.	Vehi	cle certification test	119		
	6.1.	Test margins	120		
	6.2.	Vehicle certification testing in Japan and the United States	121		
	6.3.	The WLTP introduction	122		
7.	Sumi	mary discussion and conclusions	123		

1. Introduction

Road transport contributes about one-fifth of the European Union's (EU) total emissions of carbon dioxide (CO₂), the main Greenhouse Gas (GHG), 75% of which originates from passenger cars [1-3]. Despite the fact that these emissions fell by 3.3% in 2012, they are still 20.5% higher than in 1990. Transport is the only major sector in the EU where GHG emissions are still rising [4]. The automotive sector accounts for 4% of the European GDP and 12 million jobs, or 5.6% of the employed population in Europe [5,6]. In terms of policy, the European Commission's (EC) 2011 White Paper for Transport [7] highlighted the importance of reducting GHG emissions in order to make the transition to a low carbon economy. In its 2016 communication to the European Parliament the EC stressed the potential of the transport sector to further contribute to reducing the EU's emissions and contribute to the EU's commitment under the Paris Climate Change Agreement [8]. Since 2009 the EU has set mandatory targets for the average CO₂ emissions of each vehicle manufacturer (OEM) at $130 \text{ CO}_2/\text{km}$ (2015) and $95 \text{ CO}_2/\text{km}$ (2021) [9]. In recent years, the issue of fuel consumption and CO_2 emissions has received significant attention by the public, environmental and consumer organizations [10]; certain consumer organizations have taken legal action against vehicle companies claiming they have exaggerated the fuel-saving credentials of their vehicles.

 CO_2 emissions of passenger cars are measured as part of the vehicle certification [11] test which is based on the New European Driving Cycle (NEDC), and is also referred to as the NEDC test. The fuel consumption of the vehicles is indirectly derived from the measurement of carbon dioxide (CO_2), hydrocarbons (HC) and carbon monoxide (CO) emissions measured during the certification tests, considering the carbon mass balance in the exhaust gas. Modern vehicles meet Euro standards (Euro 5 and 6) have low tailpipe CO and HC emission levels (contributing to approximately 1% of the fuel consumption). In this sense, CO_2 emissions can be considered to be proportional to the fuel consumed during vehicle's operations. Here we use both terms interchangeably so any results and conclusions can be considered to be applicable to any of the two, unless stated otherwise.

Data from the European Environmental Agency (EEA) for year 2015 [12] have confirmed that OEMs have achieved their 130 gCO_2 km in 2014, and that the average EU emissions of all manufacturers was 123.4 gCO₂/km. In addition, provisional EEA data [13,14] suggests a further decrease as of 120.7 gCO₂/km in 2015. The OEMs have already achieved significant improvements in fuel efficiency. However, there is extensive criticism on the representativeness of these figures in terms of real-world CO₂ emissions and fuel consumption performance [15]. The difference between the two used to be estimated of the order of 12–20% [16,17] while more recent studies present even wider differences ranging up to 30% or 40% [18,19]. There is indeed increasing evidence [20-28] suggesting that fuel consumption improvements originate from test-oriented optimizations and test-related practices rather than from the implementation of fuel-saving technologies. An official investigation funded by the French ministry of transport [29] has shown that most of the reported CO₂ values cannot be reproduced under laboratory test conditions and that a reproduction of the certification test results in consistently higher CO₂ emissions by 15%, on average, with a standard deviation of 8%. Similar differences (3-17%), between declared CO₂ and ex-post NEDC measurements, are reported by other researchers [30]. Studies show (see Table 1.1) that the offset between officially reported values and real-world vehicle CO₂ emissions is increasing over time.

The gap between the certification value and real-world emissions raises scepticism at multiple levels: policy, industry, market. In terms of policy, the progress of the EU's commitments and the effectiveness of the measures adopted so far are put into question. For example, assessing current and planning future policy is hard because of the divergences in fuel consumption erode a significant portion of the expected CO₂ benefits [32]. However, industry has recognized that CO₂ emissions from road transport have not decreased as expected [5]. In terms of market impact, targets that were originally set to be met with the introduction of new technologies (e.g. introduction of lightweight materials and vehicle electrification) now misleadingly appear to be achievable only with conventional approaches, and thus, slowing down innovation [33]. In addition, new fuel-saving technologies might be less appealing to consumers when compared to existing widespread and cheaper options because their fuel consumption reduction potential appears to be smaller. Furthermore, the consumer labelling legislation requires new cars to display a label showing their fuel consumption and CO₂ emissions in order to promote efficient vehicles and provide a stimulus for fuel saving options. According to an EC study [34], it is difficult to fully quantify the impact of labelling due to the divergence between actual and communicated fuel consumption value. Inaccurate consumer information or diverging reference fuel consumption values creates an uneven playing field and masks benefits of certain vehicles and technologies or overestimates others [35].

Table 1.1

Literature values of real world - certification test CO_2 divergence by year and region.

Year	ar Real world – Certification Reference value CO ₂ shortfall	
2005	12%	[16]
2009	19%	[17]
2011	21%	[20]
2011	25%	[21]
2012	22.5%	[23]
2013	30%	[24]
2014	38%	[25]
2014	44%	[31]
2015	41%	[27]

The increasing divergence between real-world and type-approval fuel consumption, as well as the difficulty to evaluate the actual effect of the CO_2 reduction technologies, led the EU to review the type approval procedure for passenger cars and light commercial vehicles and resulted in the introduction of the new Worldwide harmonized Light-duty Test Procedure (WLTP). The new test procedure will be used for the assessment of emissions, including CO_2 , in the framework of the type approval of light duty vehicles as of September, 1st, 2017. However, CO_2 targets will be still assessed with respect to NEDC CO_2 values [36]. Consequently, the present vehicle certification test and its shortcomings will remain relevant at least for another five years.

A series of factors have been identified that cause the increasing divergence between the current official fuel consumption and the one experienced in real-world driving conditions [37]. Due to the diversity of operating conditions, drivers' behaviour, car usage and other external factors, it is unlikely that any test protocol, no matter how carefully designed, will be able to accurately capture the real-world performance of vehicles. As a result, there will be always a need to identify which factors influence emissions under real-world driving conditions and which are captured by the vehicle certification tests in order to assess their impact on real-world fuel consumption. Once this impact has been better quantified the real-certification CO_2 gap could be further analysed and broken down to contributing factors and, if possible, be corrected a *posteriori*.

This paper attempts to address two key questions of concern to scientists, analysts, policy makers and the public through an extensive literature review of existing publications on the factors affecting passenger car fuel consumption in real-world driving and laboratory conditions. The questions are:

- 1. Which factors affect the fuel consumption of vehicles and to what extent?
- 2. What would be a realistic estimate of the in-use CO₂ emissions of European passenger cars?

In the following sections the factors that affect fuel consumption and CO₂ emissions under real-world driving conditions and laboratory tests are categorized as follows:

- a) factors related to vehicle characteristics and systems. This category focuses on the main contributors in energy consumption, which define fuel consumption and CO₂ emissions, such as vehicle mass, vehicle aerodynamics, tyres and auxiliary systems;
- b) factors related to the environmental and traffic conditions, including factors such as weather conditions, road morphology and traffic conditions;
- c) factors related to the vehicle driver, such as driving style and vehicle maintenance.

Finally the influence of vehicle certification test conditions, boundaries and elasticities are discussed separately.

The paper concludes with a consolidation of the information collected on the effect of the various factors, an estimate of the realworld CO_2 emissions of an average European passenger car (as defined in Table 2.1) and a short discussion on the findings of this study. It should be noted that specific engine and drivetrain technologies have not been included and are only discussed in passing, where they are linked to other vehicle-related factors affecting the real world-certification gap. This is done for two main reasons. First, it is hard to identify without detailed modelling tools the differences in the performance of individual powertrain components, inside or outside the current vehicle certification test. Second, their effect on vehicle fuel consumption is high, and hence, it would require a separate study in order to describe and present the influence of individual technologies and components on fuel consumption. In view of the introduction of the WLTP, we attempt a targeted analysis on the

 Table 2.1

 Average European vehicle characteristics by fuel 2015 (no alternative fuels included) [14].

Fuel	$CO_2(g/km)$	Mass (kg)	Capacity (cc)	Power (kW)
All	120.7	1380	1600	66
Diesel	119.2	1526	1811	71
Petrol	122.7	1214	1358	59
Hybrids	88.1	1485	1821	81

performance of specific powertrain related technologies, over realworld and vehicle certification test protocols.

2. Background

2.1. Regulatory framework

The NEDC and the respective test protocol were first introduced in the seventies for measuring pollutant emissions and not CO₂ or fuel consumption. In the early 1980s, CO₂ emissions measurement was added to the European mandatory vehicle certification process, also known as Type Approval process (TA). However, no specific limits or targets were set at the time [38]. Curbing CO₂ emissions from road transport, especially passenger cars,¹ is a cornerstone of European climate change mitigation policies [40]. In 1995 the EC made a proposal to set a fleet average CO₂ emissions target of 120 g/km for 2005. The subsequent discussions, between the EC and the vehicle manufacturers, led to a voluntary auto industry commitment (1999) to achieve fleet average emissions of 140 gCO₂/km by 2008 [41]; reductions were monitored via an annual CO₂ emissions monitoring scheme [42]. The failure of the automotive industry to live up to their commitment led to the addoption of the 2009 European regulation for mandatory CO₂ emission limits (EU Regulation 443/2009). A fleet average mass-dependent CO₂ limit of 130 g/km by 2015 was adopted. Another 10 g of CO₂ were expected to be gained from supplementary measures not covered by the type approval test (i.e. biofuels, gearshift indicators, improved air-conditioning systems, driver education etc), in order to reach overall emission levels of 120 gCO_2 km [9]. Since then the EU implemented a strategy for reducing further CO₂ emissions and fuel consumption from passenger cars [43,44] foreseeing compulsory, fleet average and mass dependent targets of 95 g/km by 2021. Failure of a manufacturer to comply with mandatory limits results in fines ranging from €5 to €95 per gram of excess CO₂ per vehicle sold.

This policy has caused significant changes in the average official CO_2 emisisons and a shift in the major characteristics of European passenger vehicles over the past decade (see Fig. 2.1), resulting in 2015, in the sales-weighted average characteristics² that are presented in Table 2.1 [14]. This has been accompanied by a reduction in average engine capacity despite the apparent increase in engine power and is a direct result of engine downsizing for both diesel and gasoline engines. In constast, mass has remained relatively constant between 1300 and 1400 kg despite its significance in vehicle energy consumption. However, there is critiscism of the accuracy of these CO_2 figures and how representative they can be considered in terms of real-world CO_2 and fuel consumption [15,45]. The generic term Alternative Fuel Vehicles (AFV) refers to vehicles that utilize compressed natural gas, liquified petroleum gas, ethanol, biodiesel and other non diesel and petrol fuels. These vehicles are grouped together



Fig. 2.1. Evolution of CO_2 emissions from new passenger cars by fuel type (a) and of average vehicle characteristics (b). Chart adapted from [45], data for 2015 estimated based on the EEA provisional data [14].

due to their low sales volume ($\sim 2.7\%$ altogether). Consequently the steep annual reduction of CO₂ emissions in this case, might be a result of changes in the share of each fuel type within AFV each year. For example, ethanol vehicles have higher emissions than liquified petroleum gas vehicles which, in turn, have a higher market share in the earlier years [45].

In parallel, most major vehicle markets worldwide have adopted similar CO_2 related targets or limits, (see Table 2.2). For comparison purposes the emission targets in Table 2.2 have been normalized to NEDC equivalent values³ [46,47].

2.2. Emissions measurements and road load determination

The reference methodology for measuring CO_2 emissions, the test cycle (NEDC) [48], test boundary conditions, vehicle set up and results collection and analysis follow the procedure for pollutant emissions measurements that was originally established in the early

¹ Similar initiatives have been established for light commercial vehicles, where the limit values are higher (2017: 175 g/km, 2020: 147 g/km), thus covering the entire light duty vehicle (LDV) market in the EU. This study focuses on passenger cars only as their sales (89%) greatly outweigh those of light commercial vehicles (11%) [39].

 $^{^2\,}$ If not mentioned differently, the average CO_2 and vehicle characteristics' values used in the text hereafter refer to those of Table 2.1.

 Table 2.2
 Light Duty Vehicle CO2 emissions future targets for major vehicle markets [47].

Country - Region	CO ₂ Target [g/km] (expressed as NEDC equivalent values)	Year of enactment
European Union (Passenger Cars)	95	2021
European Union (Light Com- mercial Vehicles)	147	2020
United States & Canada	97	2025
Japan	122	2020
China	117	2020
India	113	2021
South Korea	97	2020
Brazil	138	2017
Mexico	145	2016

1970s. The test procedure has undergone slight modifications since. Currently it abides to the standard set in the global technical regulation R83 [49] of the World Forum for Harmonization of Vehicle Regulations of the United Nations' Economic Commission for Europe (UNECE) and is used in the type-approval system of several vehicle markets in the world (with the exception of US, Japan and Canada). The NEDC-based procedure for CO_2 and fuel consumption measurement is described in UNECE R101 [50].

The NEDC consists of mild accelerations and decelerations and several steady state points which fail to reflect modern driving patterns [51,18]. In addition, the test procedure disregards various real-world conditions such as additional weight, number of passengers, use of air conditioning, realistic gear shifting, cold starts, operation at higher velocities and congestion [52,53] and examines only a small area of the operating range of the engine [51]. The testing procedure exhibits unrealistic or loosely defined boundary conditions such as temperature ranges of 20-25 °C, restricted use of auxiliary systems which are widely used in real driving, lower vehicle mass, lack of air-conditioning use, unclear or even erroneous definition of resistances. The combined effects of these factors result in a systematic bias in the recording of CO₂ emissions.

The EU vehicle certification test foresees driving of the vehicle over the NEDC on a chassis dynamometer, an instrument that simulates the resistive forces imposed on the vehicle technically referred to as the road loads [54]. The chassis dynamometer consists of a roller, where the vehicle is placed and stabilized. The roller simulates road loads according to the test cycle's speed profile. During the test exhaust emissions are collected into sample bags and are analysed after the test is completed [54]. The procedure takes place in a test cell under controllable ambient conditions, in order to deliver accurate and reproducible results. Several other test cycles and accompanying protocols have been proposed as being more representative of real driving conditions. Most notable are the Artemis cycles [55], which have served as a basis for emissions performance assessment and emissions factors development for several years [56,57]. To address the shortcomings of the existing test procedure and limit the extent of the gap the new WLTP test procedure, designed at a global level [58], will be implemented in the European typeapproval system in 2017. The development of the procedure was supported by the automotive industry, governmental and non-governmental organizations [5]. However, the WLTP is not expected to change the established CO₂ targets or the way policy is being assessed [59], and a translation of the WLTP into the NEDC-based system will take place until year 2020. To what extent, and how, the new procedure will be used in Europe for policy making and vehicle labelling with regards to vehicle fuel consumption and CO₂ emissions, remains (as of 2017) unclear.

The resistances applied during the NEDC test are determined through a coast down test which takes place at an outside test-track prior to the measurement. In this procedure, the vehicle is accelerated to 120 km/h and then it is allowed to coast down in neutral gear until it slows down to 20 km/h or until it stops. The time and vehicle speed is recorded for regular speed intervals allowing the calculation of the mean deceleration of the vehicle and the forces (resistances) acting on it. A second order polynomial model is applied in order to describe resistances [60] as follows.

$$m \frac{d\nu}{dt} = \sum^{R} = f_0 + f_1 \nu + f_2 \nu^2 \tag{1}$$

where:

m is vehicle reference mass v is vehicle velocity R is a resistance acting on the vehicle

 f_x are the road load factors (road loads) fitted on the coast down data

The model's coefficients f0, f1, f2, referred to as road loads, result from applying the above equation to the coast down test data; f_0 represents the rolling resistance that acts on the vehicle due to the deformation of the tyres, f_1 the resistance that is proportional to velocity, which mainly originates from internal losses due to rotating parts of the drivetrain such as the output shaft of the gearbox, and f_2 the aerodynamic resistance that is proportional to a vehicle's frontal area (FA) and aerodynamic resistance factor (C_d) [61].

Road loads together with vehicle mass are used for setting up the test facility (chassis dynamometer) in order to apply the appropriate resistances during a driving-cycle. Practically, the chassis dynamometer is being calibrated to reproduce the resistances calculated during the coast-down test, with few differentiations in the boundary conditions that are imposed by the respective test procedure (e.g. the simulated mass is not exactly equal to the reference mass as the legislation foresees a mass-based binning of vehicles). According to the NEDC test protocol, in laboratory conditions the total resistance applied at the wheel of the vehicle should match the sum of resistances described by Eq. (1). However, in real-world driving additional resistances and energy losses occur such as, the resistances to climb up a slope, losses due to auxiliary consumers (e.g. air-conditioning), and weather conditions. Furthermore, the vehicle mass is rarely equal to the official reference test-mass, due to the presence of additional passengers in the vehicle or other factors that increase the total mass. Such factors are presented in detail in the following paragraphs.

2.3. Divergence of official and real-world emissions

Various studies highlight the inadequacy of the certification test to simulate real-world vehicle performance [62-64,18,65,66], while the European Automobile Constructors Association (ACEA) points to the influence of the drivers on the final vehicle CO₂ emissions. For example, two drivers driving the same vehicle under the same conditions are likely to have different CO₂ emissions [66]. Meanwhile, the pressure exerted by European laws for reaching the mandatory targets has resulted in vehicle OEMs exploiting the margins of the prescribed test conditions. Such practices have widened the difference between the official values and those reported in real-world CO₂ measurements (see Table 1.1). As a result the gap between officially reported and real-world CO₂ emissions appears to increase with time. Fig. 2.2 shows the evolution of the divergence between official and measured real-world fuel consumption according to

³ The methodology to estimate the conversion equation was based on the simulation of representative vehicle models over the investigated cycles. Subsequently, the simulation results were imported in a regression model to estimate the conversion coefficients.



Fig. 2.2. Evolution of the divergence between official and drive "real-world" fuel consumption according to different data sources. Adaptation from [19].

different data sources [19]. It is expected that these divergences in CO_2 emissions may appear also in countries where the European test procedure (e.g. Australia and India) is used, while similar trends are reported for markets with different certification systems (e.g. US and China) [67,68].

Several of these (Fig. 2.2) fuel consumption measurements originate from car magazines or car related portals and websites and can be questioned as to their scientific merit. However, editors state that they follow a representative real-world driving pattern, while in most of the cases the fuel consumption is estimated based on tank fill-ups at the end of the test and subsequently CO_2 emissions are calculated assuming fixed carbon contents per fuel type [19]. It can be argued that these datasets are biased. However, all sources present the same increasing trend over time and similar relative annual changes. Based on values reported in previous studies [16,62,69], the gap in the period 2000–2005 was estimated to be 10%, a figure very similar to the values presented in Fig. 2.2 for the same period across all datasets. This demonstrates that any bias of these datasets is probably limited.

At this point one should distinguish between reported CO_2 emissions used for the assessment of specific policy targets and the fuel consumption values communicated to the driver of a vehicle. Indeed, the CO_2 emissions are reported for the combined NEDC value and monitoring is based on this single value that characterizes the vehicle. However, with regard to fuel consumption vehicle labelling requires that three values for fuel consumption are communicated to the public corresponding to urban driving cycle (UDC) and the extra-urban driving cycle (EUDC) together with their combined (NEDC) value. These three fuel consumption values may vary from 10 to 30% depending on vehicle characteristics for the attributed fuel consumptions tend to underestimate the equivalent conditions (e.g. when comparing UDC fuel consumption directly to that experienced over real urban driving).

In United States (US), the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) revised its type approval procedure in 2008. It now provides two fuel economy values, expressed in miles per gallon units (MPG) [70,71]. The first is the fuel economy measured following the official vehicle test procedure in the laboratory, and it used for monitoring policy related targets. The second is an adjusted value that is the weighted fuel economy measured over a combination of

supplementary tests, in addition to the official test [72]. These supplementary cycles include driving at higher speeds, use of air conditioning and low ambient temperatures. The adjusted fuel economy values are considered more realistic and are therefore communicated to car buyers. No extensive studies exist on the divergence between US real-world and laboratory emissions; the US EPA, however, monitors emissions of in-use vehicles to ensure that they remain within a margin of 30% of the standard limits [18, 38].

2.4. Eco-innovations

The European eco-innovation scheme is set out in legislation [9] and aims to promote the implementation of innovative technologies that reduce CO₂ emissions in real life and not (or only partially) in the certification test. Eco-innovation means an innovative technology which is accompanied by an EC approved evaluation (experimental or calculated) [74]. Vehicle manufacturers or component manufacturers can apply for a technology or a combination of technologies to be granted an eco-innovation status if they prove that the "innovation" provides benefits of more than 1 gCO₂/km compared to the standard technology and fulfils certain applicability criteria such as market penetration, technology relevance and accountability [74]. Eco-innovations enable a CO₂ emissions discount of up to 7 g/km (at fleet level) depending on their effectiveness. The latter is considered when assessing the performance of an OEM with regards to the established CO₂ targets (95 g/km sales weighted average emissions by 2021). It is expected that by 2020 most of vehicles in the market will be fitted with such technologies, helping vehicle OEMs to reach their CO₂ targets [9,75]. Ecoinnovations have a positive impact over real-world conditions and are likely to reduce the type approval real-world CO₂ gap. However, due to their "innovative" status limited scientific studies exist on these low carbon technologies. In subsequent chapters specific implementations, which have been characterized as eco-innovations, are presented and discussed.

3. Vehicle characteristics and sub-systems

3.1. Mass and road loads

3.1.1. Vehicle mass

Vehicle mass is one of the main factors influencing a vehicle's fuel consumption under low velocity driving conditions [76-78,80]. The operating mass of a vehicle consists of: (i) the empty vehicle; (ii) the fuel in the tank; and (iii) the passengers and cargo. During the current European vehicle certification test a single vehicle mass value is considered (reference mass which is a vehicle empty mass augmented by 100 kg) which is then used to identify a specific inertia class for running the laboratory CO₂ measurement. An increase in the operating mass increases fuel consumption, as more power is needed to accelerate the vehicle during acceleration phases and rolling resistance is also increased proportionally [47-49]. Despite its influence on energy consumption, the average official mass of vehicles in Europe has remained constant over the past decade (see Fig. 2.1) stabilizing between 1340 and 1400 kg. This suggests an inversion of the trend of the previous years that led to continuous mass increases as vehicles became bigger, safer and incorporated more driver and passenger aids.

There are no common metrics or approaches for the measurement and quantification of the impact of additional mass on fuel consumption and CO_2 emissions of passenger cars. A wide range of values have been reported with most studies converging on figures of the order of 5–9% (6.5–12 g/km over NEDC) for mass additions of 50–200 kg over various cycles and operating conditions [50–54].

Several studies demonstrate the effect of vehicle weight reduction on fuel consumption, particularly over vehicle certification conditions. In general, weight reduction is reported to reduce fuel consumption between 5 and 10% [87,88]. The NEDC [89] reports a linear relationship between mass reduction and fuel consumption reduction with a 5%–10% decrease in vehicle weight leading to decreases between 1.3–1.8% and 2.7–3.6%, respectively. Approximately a 0.6% reduction is achieved for each 1% saving in total vehicle mass [90]. A 100 kg reduction represents fuel savings of 0.3–0.5 l/100 km (6%–10% for a fuel consumption of 5 l/100 km) [91] while a 100 kg increase in mass is reported by Mickūnaitis et al. [92] to increase fuel consumption by 6.5% (petrol cars) and 7.1% (diesel cars) [92]. Similar ranges are reported also in US vehicles with a 10% reduction in weight estimated to deliver a 5% improved fuel economy [93].

Considering the effect of mass over real-world driving, an additional 100 kg can increase fuel consumption by an average 5-7% for a medium-sized car of 1500 kg [83]. In absolute numbers, an additional 100 kg load is reported to cause an increase from 0.3 to $0.5 \text{ l}/100 \text{ km} (7.5-12.5 \text{ gCO}_2/\text{km}) [94-98].$

Weight reduction is also linked to powertrain characteristics such as engine power. With lighter vehicles and improvements in component efficiency, the peak power requirement of powertrains could further be reduced over time [99] leading to improvements in fuel consumption. A 10% weight reduction can improve fuel economy by 4-8%, depending on whether or not the engine is downsized to maintain the same acceleration performance [100].

From a load carrying capacity perspective, which is more relevant for light goods vehicles, an increase of a vehicle's mass equal to 50% of its load carrying capacity results in an average increase of fuel consumption of about 5.6%, with a scatter not greater than $\pm 1.2\%$ [63]. Fig. 3.1 summarizes the effect of vehicle weight on fuel consumption as found in the literature.

At this point it should be noted that not all literature sources make clear reference to the *reference vehicle mass* considered during the measurements or the calculations of fuel consumption. In most cases discrete mass increases are reported together with their effect on CO_2 emissions. These discrete increases make sense for passenger

Fig. 3.1. Expected Increase in fuel consumption due to increases in vehicle mass. Error bars refer to maximum–minimum values. The references cited in this figure are [82,83,85,94-98,199–201].

cars, where the vehicle is used for transporting passengers rather than goods. In real life, the factor causing the greatest variation in passenger vehicle weight is the number of passengers, also referred to as the occupancy rate. A high occupancy rate reduces the CO₂ emissions per passenger-kilometre, which is desirable from an environmental perspective, and is examined separately.

3.1.2. Aerodynamic resistance

Vehicle aerodynamic resistance is one of the primary factors influencing fuel consumption over high speed driving conditions [101,79] and is expressed as a function of the square of vehicle's velocity and proportional to the product of aerodynamic drag coefficient (C_d), frontal area (A) and air density (ρ).

The aerodynamic drag coefficient is affected by the design of the car. Increases in the C_d x A product, hence forward referred to as aerodynamic drag, induced either by changes in the size of the vehicle or in its shape and aerodynamic design, translate directly into increased aerodynamic resistance, and thus, to decreased fuel economy and higher CO₂ emissions. Aerodynamic resistance improvement by 20% can result in fuel consumption reduction over NEDC of about 3-7% [102]; reductions of 5% and 10% in aerodynamic resistance could lead to a decrease of CO₂ emissions for NEDC of about 0.6-1.2% and 1.2-2.4% respectively [89].

Improvements of aerodynamic characteristics reduce the aerodynamic drag and increase vehicle stability by alleviating lift and side forces [79]. Focusing on the improvement of vehicle aerodynamic losses during the design and manufacturing process in the past decades has resulted in the reduction of the vehicle drag coefficient [100]. However, a continuous increase in vehicle dimensions has offset much of these resistance benefits as the frontal area of the vehicles has also increased [103].

Aerodynamic resistance under real-world driving conditions is also affected by various vehicle elements and different shape configurations [104], which are not necessarily captured by the current vehicle certification procedure. Even small modifications can increase vehicle aerodynamic resistance leading to measureable changes in fuel consumption. It is estimated that an increase of the order of 10 to 20% can result in 2-4% additional fuel consumption in highway operation [16]. Achieving drag coefficients of 0.24 in the





Fig. 3.2. Effect of air drag changes on fuel consumption. Error bars for minimum–maximum values. The references cited in this figure are [16,63,89,108].

near future is plausible and could lead to savings of approximately 1.6 l/100 km over motorway driving (130 km/h) [105].

Fig. 3.2 presents a summary of the findings of the effect of air drag changes on fuel consumption.

Air density, which varies depending on altitude and ambient conditions, influences fuel consumption but is not directly related to the aerodynamic design of the vehicle as will be presented onwards.

Finally, one issue that is referenced in non-scientific literature is the addition of designed devices such as spoilers [106,107], vortex generators [108] or combinations of the two for improving the aerodynamics of passenger cars. The latter devices can reduce aerodynamic resistance between 1 and 7% [106–108]. However, given the importance CO_2 emissions have gained in recent years it is likely that vehicle manufacturers have already exploited most of the benefits obtainable by an improved aerodynamic design or the addition of simple aerodynamic add-ons. Hence such improvements are possibly non representative for modern vehicles. It is possible that the practice of certain drivers of adding retrofit aerodynamic devices on their vehicles for enhancing down-force and stability at high speed driving actually increases fuel consumption. No studies on the topic were found.

3.1.3. Rolling resistance and tyres

Rolling resistance refers to the energy loss occurring in the tyre due to the deformation of the contact area and the damping properties of the rubber [79]. The resistance in vehicle motion induced by the tyre's deformation is proportional to the vertical force applied on the tyre due to vehicle weight and to the rolling resistance coefficient. The rolling resistance coefficient is a dimensionless quantity that is considered as constant or as proportional to vehicle velocity. Rolling resistance is frequently expressed in mass per mass units (kg/t). Many factors [61] influence rolling resistance tyre properties such vehicle velocity, temperature, tyre type and size. Rolling resistance of tyres under NEDC conditions is reported to account for 20–25% of total vehicle energy loss [109]. Reported reductions in rolling resistance are of the order of 5-30% (see Fig. 3.3) which leads to fuel consumption improvements of 1-3.5%. Not all reference sources use the same drive cycles or make reference to the same vehicle operating conditions and in most cases the absolute or relative values of the rolling resistance examined is not mentioned. Hence a more refined comparison is difficult to make.

Due to their influence on the fuel consumption of vehicles, tyres are officially categorized in energy efficiency classes (see Table 3.1) based on their measured rolling resistance. The European Regulation [110] lays down a scale of classes based on the rolling resistance coefficient (RRC). The classes range from A being the most efficient to G the least efficient. For a passenger car, category A tyres have a RRC of less than 6.5, while a category G tyre has a RRC of more than 12.1. The variation in RRC can reach 90%, where such a difference in RRC could result in a consumption increase of 7.5% [111]. Choosing tyres of the next higher energy class can signify a reduction in rolling resistance of the order of 10-15%, which translates to a reduction of fuel consumption of approximately 1–1.5% [89,112]. Maximum RRC limits are foreseen for passenger car tyres sold in Europe post-2016. The value of rolling resistance should not exceed 12 kg/t for all-season tyres and 13 kg/t for snow tyres from November 2016 and 10.5 kg/t and 11.5 kg/t respectively from November 2018 [113]. It is estimated, based on tyre sales, that the average RRC of the tyres



Source

Fig. 3.3. Decrease in fuel consumption, with the use of lower resistance tyres. The references cited in this figure are [16,61,94,95,119,175,176,178–180,189,202–205].

 Table 3.1

 Tyre categories according to [110] and mean rolling resistance coefficient.

RRC in kg/t	Energy efficiency class	Mean RRC of the class [kg/t]
$RRC \le 6.5$	Α	_
$6.6 \le RRC \le 7.7$	В	7.15
$7.8 \le RRC \le 9.0$	С	8.4
$9.1 \le RRC \le 10.5$	E	9.8
$10.6 \le RRC \le 12.0$	F	11.3
$12.1 \le RRC$	G	N/A

sold in the EU 1was 9.25 kg/t (class E tyres) in 2015 presenting an improvement compared to 2013 (9.5 kg/t) due to the introduction of the labelling scheme [114].

The tyres sold with the vehicle are not necessarily of the same energy efficiency class as the tyres that were fitted during certification. The vehicle during coast down should be equipped with the widest tyre and if more than three tyre sizes are available, the second widest should be chosen [48]. In general, the wider the tyre the higher is its rolling resistance. Nevertheless, this does not define the energy class of a tyre, so the widest class "A" tyre can be chosen while a vehicle is sold with a narrower tyre of a lower energy class. It is expected that most vehicles when undergoing the type approval procedure are equipped with a high energy class tyre (A or B) while the majority of vehicles are sold with tyres of lower energy class. This situation creates a discrepancy between the certified and the in-use fuel consumption because the assumed rolling resistance during the certification test is different from the one actually occurring on the road. An increase of 20% in rolling resistance, which corresponds to a change from tyre of energy class A to a tyre of energy class C, can increase fuel consumption by 2% [115]. This situation is expected to improve with the introduction of the WLTP which stipulates that a vehicle shall be measured with the best and worst case tyres. When the same vehicle is sold with tyres belonging to an intermediate RRC class the fuel consumption should be corrected accordingly via linear interpolation of the two limit values.

An important issue relates to the use of replacement tyres. The majority of aftersales tyres (replacement tyres) in the EU falls within classes C and E [116] with the penetration of higher energy class tyres in the market remaining as low as 1% [114]. The average annual mileage of a passenger car is estimated to be 14,000 km [117], thus over a 10 year period and until a vehicle is retired, three to five sets of tyres are replaced. This tendency of European drivers to choose low energy class tyres contributes in the widening of the gap. On the other hand, important benefits in real world CO_2 emissions can be gained, relatively easily, by promoting replacement tyres of higher energy class in existing, older model-year vehicles.

Winter tyres, which are mandatory during winter season in some European countries (e.g. Germany) [118], also exhibit higher rolling resistance compared to regular tyres and lead to an increase in fuel consumption [119]. Winter tyres of the same characteristics and size can be to be one or two energy efficiency classes lower. A 1 kg/t difference between all weather and winter tyres foreseen by the legislation for maximal allowed values [114]. This can lead to increases of the order of 2-3%. It is expected that winter tyre RRC will improve with time as does RRC of regular tyres.

3.1.4. Factors affecting both mass and road loads

The factors discussed below present two distinct characteristics. Their effect on fuel consumption can be attributed to more than one factor, namely changes in mass and road loads. In addition, their contribution to the real world fuel consumption cannot be easily captured with simple fuel consumption reporting or tests such as those used for producing the data of Fig. 2.2. Hence, a wide variation in test conditions and eventually the reported impacts on fuel consumption should be expected.

3.1.4.1. Trailer towing. Trailer towing affects both the total mass and the road loads of the vehicle leading to increased fuel consumption. The total mass is increased due to the additional weight of the trailer and its load, while the extra wheels introduce additional rolling resistance. Vehicle aerodynamic resistance is also influenced by the trailer, which can increase both the frontal area and the drag coefficient [120]. The driving style is also adjusted to the towing conditions. In general, towing causes a reduction in vehicle speed and leads to a milder driving. The reduced speed counterbalances the effect of deteriorated aerodynamics. Finally, additional energy is needed for lights and other trailer accessories.

The increase in fuel consumption due to towing was examined in a study [121] in which a passenger car was tested towing an unloaded trailer and the same trailer loaded at 60% of full load capacity. The total weight of the empty trailer was 310 kg and 564 kg including the 60% capacity load. Tests were carried out at speeds ranging from 70 to 90 km/h. The vehicle mass was 1408 kg with a 2.15 m² frontal area and the trailer had a length of 4.3 m and a width of 2.2 m. The height of the trailer was minimal and its frontal area was within the frontal area of the vehicle, so any effect on aerodynamic resistance is expected to be limited. Fuel consumption was correlated to vehicle speed and resulted in an increase from 33% to 43% for the unloaded trailer and from 37% to 45% for the loaded trailer for the tested speed range. Experiments performed [122] on a Sports Utility Vehicle (4.0 L V6 engine, 2268 kg, 2.53 m² frontal area) towing a trailer of 1588 kg total weight, width of 1.83 m and height of 1.83 m revealed similar trends but higher increases compared to the reference test performed without the trailer. The frontal area was increased by 37% (to 3.47 m^2) when towing. Fig. 3.4 presents the fuel consumption in comparison to the standard configuration in the two cases.

3.1.4.2. Roof rack and roof box. Roof racks act as the basis for attaching a roof box (i.e. luggage box, ski boxes or for other equipment). Although roof racks usually serve as a basis for installing a roof box, they can be also found as a stand-alone component. Their installation worsens the aerodynamic resistance of the vehicle and leads to increases in fuel consumption estimated of the order of 1-3% for a speed range of 70-90 km/h [121].



Fig. 3.4. Increase in fuel consumption for towing a trailer for various speeds, based on [122]. Adapted chart, bars correspond to percentage increase.



Fig. 3.5. Percentage increase in fuel consumption for a non-laden roof box. The references cited in this figure are [82,121,122,124,125,206,207].

A roof box increases the aerodynamic resistance and mass of the vehicle leading to an increase in fuel consumption. The addition of a roof box on a roof rack increases vehicle frontal area between 0.22 and 0.45 m² and increases vehicle aerodynamic drag [123]. The average increase in frontal area is estimated to be 0.37 m²or 15% for an average European passenger car. Apart from the effect on aerodynamics, the additional average weight of the empty roof box is estimated at 15 kg, and hence, has a marginal effect on fuel consumption. During motorway conditions at 120 km/h a non–laden roof rack can on average increase fuel consumption by 7.5% [124]. Depending on conditions and box type, the effect of non-laden roof boxes is reported to be of the order of 5–14% compared to the fuel consumption measured without the box (see Fig. 3.5).

Taking into consideration an average maximum load of 60 kg [123], a laden roof box increases the mass of the vehicle on average by 75 kg resulting in a 5.5% mass increase for a vehicle with 1360 kg mass, equal to the weight of an average passenger. According to the values presented in Fig. 3.1, this can increase consumption between by 2 to 5%, without taking into consideration the impact on air drag. A study [125] observed an increase between 20 and 30% for a loaded roof box in highway operation, without specifying the average speed of the vehicle. Regarding the combined effect of weight and aerodynamic resistance increase due to a laden roof box, an effect ranging from 5 to 25% depending on the vehicle speed was found averaging at about 15% for speeds between 100 and 120 km/h (see Fig. 3.6).

3.1.4.3. Roof add-ons. Various items such as taxi signs and advertising signs attached on a car can also increase the frontal area, drag coefficient and fuel consumption (see Table 3.2). Based on the findings of Chowdhury et al. [104] the combined effect on fuel consumption was calculated for an average (see Table 2.1) European gasoline vehicle under realistic driving conditions. The literature reviewed did not provide information to cover in full detail the effects of these add-ons individually. Nonetheless, vehicles with add-ons are expected to circulate in an urban environment with low relative speeds, where the effect of aerodynamics on fuel consumption and CO_2 emissions is minimal.



Fig. 3.6. Increase in fuel consumption because of laden roof box (influence on both mass and aerodynamics considered). Different vehicle configurations considered in each study.

Table 3.2

Examples of various add-ons and their effect on drag coefficient and frontal area [104]. Estimates on potential fuel consumption increase made according to [23] assuming an average gasoline vehicle.

Add – ons	Increase in drag coefficient $(C_d)(\%)$	Increase in projected frontal area over the baseline (%)	Increase in fuel consumption (without mass) (%)	Mass increase (%)	Increase in fuel consumption (including mass increase) (%)
Advertising sign	7.2	0.8	4	~0	4
Taxi sign	5.1	2.0	3	~0	3
Roof rack	20.4	1.2	9	0.1	9.6
Roof rack with ladder	24.0	2.5	11	0.4	11.6
Barrel	33.1	4.9	15	0.1	15.4

3.2. Auxiliary systems

The auxiliary systems of a car comprise of all the elements that improve driving safety and comfort. This however at the cost of an increased electrical, or mechanical power supply that in turn increase fuel consumption [126,86]. The main vehicle systems reported in literature are:

- Air conditioning systems;
- Heating systems;
- Steering assist systems; and
- Other electrical consumers and auxiliaries (e.g. headlights, windscreen wipers, heated seats).

Vehicle's auxiliaries were found to represent 3.2% of the fuel consumption over the NEDC [127], a rather high value considering official European certification conditions. During the official certification test eventually the vehicle battery is fully charged, so no engine power is directed to electric components, and auxiliary components operate at the lowest power consumption level possible (see paragraph 6.1). The additional fuel consumption induced by auxiliary systems in real world conditions is estimated to be of the order of 3% [128], with the air-conditioning effect not taken into consideration. Other studies do not quantify the impact of auxiliary systems on fuel consumption but attempt to quantify fuel savings gained by the application of certain technologies like the full electrification of auxiliary systems. The latter is reported to reduce fuel consumption by 3% (gasoline and diesel) [129], a figure that is probably overestimated given the findings of the studies presented previously.

In terms of absolute energy consumption induced by auxiliary systems, a wide range of values is reported by Carlson et al. [130] over chassis dyno tests, ranging from 135 W to 1200 W, depending on the test cycle investigated. In the same study, the required on-road auxiliary load over 12 months, for a variety of ambient and driving conditions, was calculated to be between 310 and 640 W. The electric power demands of auxiliary systems and other components are expected to increase in the future bringing current 12 V electrical systems to their limits of operation [131]. The total electric loads of present vehicles can reach up to 2.2 kW but could increase to 4.2 kW in the future pushing the need to adopt 48 V systems to handle higher loads with lower electric currents, and hence, with less power lost due to Joule heating. According to Kühnlenz [131] 48 V systems can replace 12 V systems by 2030, facilitating also a transition to mild hybrid vehicles.

3.2.1. Air conditioning (cooling)

One of the most influential factors affecting real-world fuel consumption is the operation of Air Conditioning (A/C) systems [132,16,133-136,130]. While in 1993 the share of cars sold with A/C as standard was ca. 10%, it is reported to have risen to 85% by 2011 [137]. Although it was estimated in 2002 that by 2014 the majority of the vehicles sold in the European, American and

Asian markets would be equipped with A/C systems [138], the use of A/C is not included in the present (NEDC) or future (WLTP as of 2017) European type approval tests, but is considered for future inclusion.

The effect A/C use on fuel consumption depends mainly on the desired interior temperature [130] and ambient conditions (temperature, air humidity and solar radiation) and to a lesser extent on other aspects such as speed and driving patterns [139]. Because of this weak connection to traffic conditions, the additional litres of fuel per hour of driving (l/h) is proposed [135,139] as the most appropriate metric for quantifying the impact of A/C on fuel consumption, instead of a percentile increase. Some researchers, however, claim a stronger connection between traffic conditions and the additional fuel consumption induced by the A/C operation, with the relative influence being reduced as vehicle speed increases (4%, 2.5%, and 1% for urban, rural and motorway driving respectively [140]). This observation does not necessarily contradict the fixed fuel consumption-per-driving-hour approach; increased fuel consumption at high speed conditions reduces the relative fuel losses resulting from the A/C system.

There is a lack of consensus on the measurement conditions and the reporting of the impact of A/C on fuel consumption. Measured [133] CO₂ emissions of an air conditioned vehicle without any heat soaking and of a vehicle exposed to solar radiation of 850 W/m² resulted in increases in CO₂ emissions over NEDC of $2056 \text{gCO}_2/\text{h}$ (an additional consumption of 0.85 l/h). Similarly an increase in fuel consumption of 1 l/h is reported in [141] but without making explicit reference to the conditions of A/C operation. Certain studies report the effect of A/C on a l/100 km basis. According to [139], fuel consumption increases and exceeds 11/100 km at high load points, which are rare in real-world driving conditions, and the same study recommends common guidelines for determining A/C effect. An average increase of 1.251/100 km was found over the NEDC in an EU funded project [142] aiming to develop a common type approval procedure for A/C systems. Finally, relative increases of 14%, 10% and 11% for the urban, highway and combined cycle respectively have been reported [143] (see Table 3.3).

The type of A/C, manual or automatic, has an impact on fuel consumption. Manual A/C are considered systems that operate continuously while automatic A/C try to maintain a predefined cabin temperature. Tests of the effect of manual and automatic A/C at 50 km/h and 100 km/h showed that the impact on CO_2 emissions is higher in manual A/C than in automatic ones and that, similarly to

Table 3.3Effect of A/C on fuel consumption (l/100 km)over urban, highway and combined cycles[143].

	City	Highway	Combined
A/C off	9.0	6.4	7.6
A/C on	10.4	7.0	8.6

what has already been discussed, the overall impact is lower at a speed of 100 km/h than at 50 km/h [144,145].

For hybrid vehicles the relative effect of A/C operation is reported to be higher compared to conventional vehicles, an expected outcome as hybrid vehicles present much lower fuel consumption. Comparing a conventional (1406 kg, 3000 cc) against a hybrid vehicle (907 kg, 1300 cc), [146] performed tests over the US SFTP SC03 Supplemental Federal Test Procedure, which is a sub-cycle of the FTP-75 test cycle where the A/C is turned on, at an ambient temperature of 35 °C. Fuel consumption increased from 10.7 l/100 km to 14.7 l/100 km and from 2.77 l/100 km to 6.57 l/100 km for the conventional and the hybrid vehicle respectively.

Regarding the contribution of specific A/C components in the additional energy demand, Nielsen et al. [147] reports that 175 W of the A/C imposed electrical load can be attributed to the cooling fan and the clutch operation of the compressor, while another 475 W of the mechanical load can be attributed to the energy needs of the compressor. Experimenting with various improvements they have achieved a 46% reduction in the electrical load and a 27% in the mechanical load.

Fig. 3.7 provides a summary of the results retrieved from the various sources. In order to normalize the findings, an average speed of 100 km/h was assumed for calculating the respective values. Different studies consider different assumptions regarding the ambient-cabin temperature; it has not been possible to take those into consideration.

3.2.2. *Heating (electric heating or A/C)*

Recent improvements in engine fuel efficiency have reduced the performance of the vehicle heating system, due to lower engine heat rejection to the coolant, for systems that rely on engine heat to maintain cabin temperature or remove the vapour from vehicle windscreens. Missing heat is compensated by electric heating which in turn leads to an increase in electric power demand [148]. Such systems may require an additional 400-2000 W [149] of electric power to operate. The additional power requirement has an impact on fuel consumption, with an increase of 600 W resulting in fuel consumption increases of 5-10% (about $6-12 \text{ gCO}_2/\text{km}$ for a 2015 average car) over the NEDC [150].

A study [148] examined the operation of heating systems for various outside temperatures and found that their use in Frankfurt (Germany) resulted in an increase in fuel consumption of 0.15 l/100 km and 0.25 l/100 km ($3.7-6.2 \text{ gCO}_2/\text{km}$), which corresponds to 2.6% and 4.4% respectively for an average European car. It is expected that hybrid electric vehicles, which exhibit prolonged periods of engine shut-off, are affected more by the operation of heaters in terms of available range in electric mode and fuel consumption.

3.2.3. Steering assist systems

Steering assist systems contribute to driving safety and comfort, but they also require an additional energy supply that results in increased fuel consumption. Steering action is considered rare compared to the total vehicle operating time. In typical highway travel the power steering assisted system can remain idle for about 76% of the time [151].

There are three types of steering assist systems [152]: Hydraulic Power assisted Steering (HPS); Electro–Hydraulic Power assisted Steering (EHPS); and Electric Power assisted Steering (EPS). HPS has been the main power assisting system for many years and is powered by the combustion engine belt drive, even when in standby hence it is a significant energy consumer. In recent years, there has been an effort to implement power-on-demand type of systems that led to the evolution of EHPS, a partially on-demand system, and EPS.



Source

Fig. 3.7. Estimated fuel consumption increase based on the findings retrieved from different sources. Use of A/C and an average speed of 100 km/h are assumed to normalize values that are not expressed in 1/100 km. The references cited in this figure are [16,94,128,135,136,140,143–145,163,209].

In EHPS the hydraulic pump is driven by operating an electric motor that has a lower power demand. In contrast, the EPS steering assistance comes directly from an electric motor, which is only activated when power assistance is required, resulting in lower energy consumption [153]. In terms of required power, HPS can demand \sim 270 W, EHPS \sim 38 W and EPS \sim 18 W [154]. The HPS system may cause an 8% increase in fuel consumption with the EHPS and EPS a 2% and less than 1% increase, respectively [152]. According to [16], electrical power steering increases fuel consumption by 2–3%, a value that lies probably in the high range considering modern vehicles.

Since the HPS is the most fuel inefficient system it has been suggested [151] that the use of EHPS is needed, where HPS pump is disconnected by an electromagnetic clutch when steering is not required. On-road measurements on vehicles featuring these systems showed a decrease of 5% and 4.1% for highway and urban driving accordingly compared to normal use of the HPS system. The overall decrease in the NEDC was 3.9%, where the decrease was higher in the UDC than the EUDC, 4.8% and 2.7% respectively. This suggests that the steering system can have a measureable impact on vehicle certification CO_2 emissions.

Based on the data collected, the operation of the steering assist system can increase fuel consumption by 1–2%. Part of this extra fuel consumption is possibly also captured during the vehicle certification test despite the lack of actual steering. Steering is fundamental under real-world operation therefore the impact of driving assistance systems on CO_2 emissions cannot be avoided. No specific study was found that quantifies the contribution of the steering assist system over the European vehicle certification fuel consumption test. Further investigation is therefore necessary to provide accurate estimates.

3.2.4. Other electrical consumers and auxiliaries

Components and devices such as lights, pumps or the ventilator, monitors and sound systems, can be classified in this category. These require additional electric energy to operate and hence result in increased fuel consumption and CO₂ emissions. Systems such as engine and vehicle control units, fuel pumps and injection systems, various sensors (i.e. gas, speed, temperature, force and torque, etc.) are excluded as they affect fuel consumption under any driving conditions and it is difficult to distinguish potential CO₂ increases they impose over real driving compared to the vehicle certification test [155,156].

During the past 40 years there has been a trend towards a higher in-use electrical power demand, which in the case of the US market, appears to be increasing since 2005 [156]. Such trends are expected also for the European passenger cars as new and more sophisticated auxiliary systems such as GPS, air cleaning, air conditioning, adaptive cruise control, collision warning and avoidance systems are introduced in the fleet [155]. Such devices impose higher electrical loads resulting in increased alternator operation, which in turn increases the engine power demand and subsequent fuel consumption. Officially, the total electrical power requirements of a European passenger car over real-world driving are estimated to be 750 W [157]. This figure is lower compared to the 2500 W reported for US vehicles [156] but still higher than the 350 W estimate for the European vehicle certification test [157]. Only limited use of electrical consumers takes place during the European vehicle certification test and some OEM experts suggest that 350 W might be an overestimated value and that 150 W is a more representative one [158]. This discrepancy, however, suggests a measureable shortfall between type approval and real-world consumption. In addition to the above a standard practice, in the present certification scheme, is to run the test with battery fully charged, hence the operation of the alternator is restricted further increasing the deviation between real fuel consumption.

Estimates on the effect of electrical systems on fuel consumption and CO₂ emissions diverge. Johnson [159] claimed that the use of accessories can increase fuel consumption by 2.8% (3.6 gCO₂/km for a 2014 vehicle), while a research found that a vehicle with all electrical systems switched on can present an increase of up to 16% or about 20 g/km of CO₂ in terms of certification values [18]. A study [160] regarding lighting equipment found that complete lighting functions (i.e. Xenon headlamps, front position bulbs, rear LED lamps, licence plate bulbs and interior lights) requiring 144W of electric power increase fuel consumption by 0.14 l/100 km $(3.5 \text{ gCO}_2/\text{km})$. Older lighting equipment technology used during the 1980s led to an increase between 0.18 and 0.28 l/100 km $(4.5-7 \text{ gCO}_2/\text{km})$. The use of LED headlamps in the future can decrease power demand as they are more efficient. The use of daytime running light can also increase fuel consumption by 0.281/ 100 km (7 gCO₂/km). This was one of the main arguments against the mandatory adoption of this technology, a measure proposed by the EC in 2008 [161,162]. Fig. 3.8 presents the power needs and the potential increase in fuel consumption of various auxiliaries. Based on these results in a rainy, winter, night scenario (i.e. where use of headlights, windscreen wiper, rear window heating and wiper and electrical booster heater is assumed) a car would consume 1.5 l/ 100 km more fuel, an increase of 26% compared to the official value for an average European car.

3.2.5. Eco-innovations related to electrical systems

The EC has approved the implementations of innovative lowenergy consuming vehicle technologies. These can be categorized into three groups: LED lighting; solar photovoltaic roofs; and efficient alternators.

Regarding LED lights, various applicants have demonstrated that LED lights were more efficient compared to standard lights, such as halogen headlights [164-167]. The average benefits in CO₂ emissions from this technology are expected to be about 1 gCO₂/km. As of 2016, many new European cars are fitted with this technology.

Solar roof systems have been awarded an eco-innovative status [168,169] and such systems utilize a photovoltaic panel that is attached to the roof and charges an on-board battery. The stored electricity is then used for powering various electric systems of the vehicle and can result in direct savings due to reduce electric power demand. The expected benefits in terms of real world CO_2 reductions are estimated at 2 g CO_2 /km.

Various high efficient alternator implementations (See Table 3.4) have also been granted eco-innovation status. In this case, a comparison was conducted with a baseline alternator exhibiting 67%

Table	3.4
-------	-----

High efficient alternator technologies by applicant.

Alternator technology	Commission implementing decision
Alternator utilizes synchronous rectification using	[170]
metal-oxide-semiconductor field-effect transistors	
achieving efficiency of at least 77%	
Reduced rectification, stator iron and stator copper	[171]
losses. At least 77% efficiency	
Alternator output from 100 A to 250 A	[172]
Alternator utilizes high efficiency diodes and syn-	[173]
chronous active rectification achieving efficiency	
of at least 78%	
Reduced rectification losses by utilizing low-energy	[174]
loss diode	
Reduced stator iron losses by utilizing thin, high-	
Poducod stator coppor lossos hu utilizing ultra high	
fill forsten staten and annihing swial soaling	
nii factor stator and applying axial cooling	
structure	



Fig. 3.8. Power consumption and fuel consumption increase of various auxiliaries [163].

efficiency over the NEDC, a value that is assumed representative for new passenger cars. The average benefits in CO_2 emissions from this technology are expected to be about $1-2 \text{ gCO}_2/\text{km}$.

3.3. Friction and lubricants

It is estimated that up to 25% of fuel energy spent during the vehicle certification test is consumed to overcome the friction of the car's components, which refers to the engine, transmission and brakes. According to [175], a passenger car consumes on average 3401 of fuel annually to overcome friction for an average mileage of 13,000 km. The most common technology option for reducing friction in the vehicle's mechanical parts is the use of lubricants with low viscosity. A lubricant's viscosity should be:

- Low enough for the lubricant to flow to the parts that need it; and
- High enough for the lubricant to form a protective film between the surfaces it is supposed to protect from contact. This lubrication film must have the appropriate properties to withstand the loads and pressures occurring between the surfaces.

When viscosity is lower than necessary, the film formed by the lubricant will not provide sufficient protection for the moving parts. This can result in increased friction, wear, heating and oxidation. When viscosity is higher than necessary problems may also occur. Inadequate flow could lead to increased drag and friction leading to higher operating temperatures and energy consumption. Low viscosity lubricants maintain their ability to protect the mechanical parts of the vehicle. Therefore the characterization of a lubricant as low-viscosity or energy efficient has to take place considering the type, characteristics and the operation of the respective mechanical component.

According to literature, the use of low friction lubricants decreases fuel consumption [94,175–179]. This effect seems to be greater in the urban than in the suburban cycle [177]. An average improvement in fuel consumption is estimated at about 4% and

alternating motor oil of high and low viscosity between summer and winter seasons could also contribute to decreased fuel consumption [180].

Motor oil viscosity is inversely dependent on temperature: the higher the temperature, the lower the viscosity but the measure of viscosity decrease is important. At low ambient temperatures lower viscosity allows easier engine cranking and starting, rapid oil distribution in various components and lower friction losses. At normal engine operating temperatures (T>90 °C) viscosity should be in the proper range to maintain good lubrication characteristics, minimize oil consumption and friction losses [181]. For a cold start cycle such as the NEDC, normal operating temperature is reached close to the end of the test (1180 s), while it could take longer in congested traffic [182]. During the warm up phase the fuel consumption is affected by the rate of viscosity decrease with temperature. A 5W-30 oil at 30 °C fuel consumption can be up to 20% higher than at 80 °C [183]. Another study [184] focuses on the effect of oil temperature on fuel consumption over the NEDC for initial ambient temperatures of 25 and -7 °C. The higher viscosity of the oil at -7 °C resulted in significant increases of about 15% compared to 25 °C ambient temperature. Fig. 3.9 summarizes the findings regarding the impact of lubricant on fuel consumption.

It is expected that for the vehicle certification test, OEMs use the most appropriate and fuel efficient lubricants exploiting any potential CO_2 benefit. The same practice is advisable for in-use operation but cannot be guaranteed. It is up to the driver or the car owner to follow the manufacturer's suggestion regarding the replacement/ use of fuel efficient engine lubricants

3.4. Maintenance and ageing

3.4.1. Tyre maintenance and pressure

In addition to tyre category and characteristics, tyre condition and maintenance can also influence the RRC. While tyre wear may reduce the RRC it is also associated with loss in grip and other undesirable characteristics that can make tyres unsafe and dangerous to use [185]. It is difficult to assess these influences on fuel consumption. Tyre wear control is part of the mandatory technical inspection



Fig. 3.9. Decrease in fuel consumption by switching to lower viscosity motor oil. The references cited in this figure are [94,95,176-180,210].

of European cars that is performed on a biannual basis [186]. The most important aspect of proper tyre maintenance is tyre pressure control.

Ageing, accumulated mileage and temperature variations can lead to pressure losses. Low tyre pressure results in higher rolling resistance [16,187], directly increasing fuel consumption [188,189]. All tyres have a designated operating pressure and deviating from it affects their rolling resistance. Fig. 3.10 demonstrates how rolling resistance and fuel consumption can be linked to tyre pressure, making use of data reported in [61]. The effect of pressure on rolling resistance is not linear with deflations of 0.3 bar causing increases of 6%, while deflations of 1 bar causing increases of 30%. The same study found that 21% of the French vehicles had under-inflated tyres



Fig. 3.10. Evolution of tyre rolling resistance as a function of tyre pressure. Base rolling resistance equals 100%, measured at 2.1 bar according to ISO 8767 (Adapted from Michelin [61]).

by 0.3 and 0.5 bar while a 35% had underinflated tyres by more than 0.5 bar below the recommended pressure. Only 32% of the vehicles had pressure levels within the recommended range and 12% had over inflated tires by 1 bar reducing rolling resistance by 20% in the expense of tire life.

A study [122] examined the effect of low tyre pressure on fuel consumption over constant speed conditions in a range between 64 and 129 km/h with an 8 km/h interval and found a 6-10% (0.40–0.46 l/100 km) increase in fuel consumption. An average under-inflation of 0.18 bar results in a 0.7% increase in fuel consumption in a city and 1% on a highway [190]. Fig. 3.11 presents a summary of the findings of tyre pressure effect on fuel consumption.

Due to the influence of tyre pressure on fuel consumption and safety all new passenger car models released in the United States (from 2008), and the European Union (from 2012) must be equipped with a tyre pressure monitoring system (TPMS). The extent of the availability of technology in the EU is presently unknown. In addition, no studies were found regarding how much drivers respond to the indications of the TPMS or whether tyre deflation has been improved.

3.4.2. Other factors

Other factors related to vehicle maintenance and condition may also affect fuel consumption in real-world driving conditions. In particular, wheel misalignment, suspension system maintenance and air filter clogging.

Wheel alignment is the adjustment of the tyre's camber, toe and caster angles to ensure that the vehicle is not deviating from its direction [191]. Misaligned wheels can increase fuel consumption by increasing hysteresis losses [16,137,192,193] by up 3% for a 2 mm of toe misalignment [194]. In some extreme cases, it is suggested that wheel misalignment can reduce tyre life from 80,000 km down to



Fig. 3.11. Effect of lowered tyre pressure on fuel consumption. The references cited in this figure are [16,61,82,187,208].

8000 km and increase vehicle fuel consumption by 30% compared to its operation with wheels fully aligned [195]. Only a few studies quantify this effect. However, there are several studies for heavy-duty vehicles, where the impact seems to be greater [193,196].

Clogged air filters were found to increase fuel consumption in old carburetted cars by 2 to 6% [126], but there was no information on similar effects occurring on modern fuel injection spark ignition cars. It is assumed that the effect is much lower as fuel injection in modern cars is adapted to ensure a correct mixture. One report [16] states that fuel consumption can increase by 6% due to filter clogging. This case, for old carburetted cars, is also verified by the U.S. Department of Energy - U.S. Environmental Protection Agency [120] and presented on their fuel economy website. Tests [197] on two turbocharged vehicles with clean and clogged air filters resulted in no significant change in fuel economy or CO_2 emissions. According to [198] for compression ignition engine vehicles the greatest effect of a clogged air filter is a decrease in maximum power and acceleration.

4. Environmental and traffic conditions

4.1. Weather conditions

Weather conditions refer to all factors associated to meteorological phenomena that can have a direct or indirect influence on vehicle fuel consumption. The current vehicle certification test is performed at fixed temperature, pressure and humidity; such conditions do not reflect weather variations that a driver experiences throughout the year. Three categories appear to have the largest impact on the fuel consumption and CO₂ emissions of passenger cars: wind, temperature and altitude (ambient pressure) [211]. Weather conditions such as rain, snow or fog can also impact fuel consumption by affecting the way the vehicle is driven and by influencing resistance, the operation of auxiliary units or the engine. Ambient conditions are not stable and may vary depending on geographical location, weather pattern, and yearly seasons.

4.1.1. Rain and snow

Rain and snow affect the grip and the rolling resistance of the vehicle as they change the characteristics of the road surface. Rain creates a layer of water that the wheels have to overcome and increases road loads and hence fuel consumption. A limited number of studies have quantified the effect of rain and wet roads on fuel consumption. A study [211] examined the effect of water presence on the fuel consumption of real vehicles travelling under transient conditions. Tests in two flat routes with water depths of 1, 2 and 4 mm were compared against tests on a dry road surface and concluded that the fuel consumption in each case increased by 30%, 90% and 80% respectively. Fuel consumption was found to be higher for 2 mm than 4 mm depths because of the reduced vehicle speed at 4 mm caused by the increased amount of rain and reduced visibility. A US study regarding heavy-duty vehicles (HDV) also indicates that fuel consumption increases [212] with rain. Snow and ice can also increase fuel consumption. The wheels can slip on the road wasting energy as they have reduced grip, while driving speeds are lower than normal. In addition, some cars use four-wheel drive for better grip, fact which results in higher fuel consumption [213].

4.1.2. Ambient temperature

Ambient temperature can influence all kinds of external resistances on the vehicle. Low ambient temperature results in increased air density and higher aerodynamic resistance [103], while increased air temperature decreases aerodynamic resistance [214]. The tyre condition is also affected by the increased temperature, as the contained air pressure, the stiffness and the hysteresis of the rubber all change, resulting in lower rolling resistance [189,215]. Temperature can also have a more significant impact on the fuel consumption of hybrid electric vehicles under real-world driving conditions because battery capacity is reduced with lower temperatures [216].

4.1.3. Cold-start

Ambient temperature determines the temperature of the vehicle and its components when starting after prolonged parking periods, resulting in increased fuel consumption during the their warm up phase (cold start effect). Cold start occurs when the vehicle starts operating and lasts until all vehicle components reach their nominal operating temperature for the first time (warm up phase). Cold start is known to influence fuel consumption particularly in the case of short distance trips [213,217]. Lubrication systems and their components [218], tyres [188,189], vehicle transmission, engine and exhaust after-treatment system [201,219] operate differently at starting conditions and during the warm up phase of the trip, leading to increased fuel consumption. The effect of cold start depends on the initial temperature of the various components and the duration of their warm up phase. The latter is not the same for all components with exhaust after-treatments system usually reaching operating temperature within 200s regardless of the operating conditions, while components such as the gearbox stabilize thermally after more than 15-20 km, depending on the operating conditions [220–223]. The cold start effect of each individual component on fuel consumption disappears after its warm up phase. Predicting the full impact of ambient temperature at cold start conditions on a vehicle's fuel consumption is not straightforward.

The type approval test foresees a starting temperature of 20-30 °C, with most tests performed at 25 °C, although according to [224] starting a vehicle at 25 °C is not representative of average realworld operation. A temperature in the range of 14 ± 4 °C is considered more representative of the European average ambient temperature in autumn and spring [224]. Starting temperatures lower than 20 °C instead of 25 °C can result in a 6% increase in fuel consumption due to excess cold start consumption [201]. Even within the foreseen temperature range, measured fuel consumption can vary by more than 2% [18,225], while [214] reports an increase of 2-3% in fuel consumption per 10 °C decrease in air temperature. Finally, despite that type approval foresees emissions tests also at very low temperatures (-7 °C), which are not uncommon in northern European countries, CO_2 and fuel consumption are not reported in this case. According to [226] the fuel consumption of Euro 4 petrol and diesel cars was measured to be 78% lower at 23 °C (0.04 l) compared to -20 °C (0.18 l) and 69% lower compared to -7 °C (0.13 l).

The cold start effect may have a different impact on vehicle fuel consumption depending on powertrain technology. Vehicles tested [227] over NEDC under temperatures of 25 °C and -7 °C showed increases in fuel consumption of 21% for a multiport injection (MPI) spark ignition vehicle and 16% for a direct injection spark ignition vehicle (DISI). An American study [221] on the effect of the cold start in the urban cycle found an increase of 15% and 20% for conventional vehicles and a 20% to 37% for hybrids at temperatures of -6.7 °C compared to warm operation. In the same study, the difference between cold start at 22 °C and warm operation was between 6% and 12%. Measurements in Europe over the NEDC [217] on 8 petrol and 5 diesel cars at temperatures of 22 $^{\circ}$ C and $-7 ^{\circ}$ C showed an increase a 15% increase in fuel consumption for the gasoline vehicles and 20% for the diesel. Finally, the effect of cold start on the starting temperature is more pronounced in hybrid electric vehicles. A Canadian study [228] tested a conventional petrol vehicle and three hybrids at temperatures of -8 °C and 20 °C. The increase in fuel consumption for the hybrids varied from 56% to 107% for the city cycle and from 31% to 77% in the unified cycle, while the discrepancy for the conventional car was lower at 23% and 19% respectively.

Fig. 4.1 presents a summary of the values found in literature linking cold start temperature to excess fuel consumption over certification cycles. Literature data are combined with the results of an analysis undertaken by the EC's Joint Research Centre (JRC) [229] that was based on internal vehicle measurements following the NEDC at various temperatures [217,230].

In real-world driving conditions the effect of cold start on fuel consumption depends on the distance travelled, the duration of the trip and the number of sub-trips. Short distance trips exhibit higher fuel consumption compared to medium or longer distance due to high energy losses of non-thermally stabilised components [120,231]. For a trip with characteristics similar to those of NEDC (11 km, 20 min, 20–25 °C, 33 km/h) fuel consumption increases by 10% due to cold start (Fig. 4.1). This increase is higher for shorter distance trips and lower average speed values. An increased frequency of short urban trips where vehicle components are partly or fully cooled down can



Fig. 4.1. Percentage increase in fuel consumption related to starting temperature. The references cited in this figure are [16,18,227,228].

result in additional fuel consumption compared to the officially reported value. According to [205], performing many short trips under urban conditions instead of a single long trip amplifies the effect of cold start and may lead to high fuel consumption up as much as 30 l/ 100 km. However, allowing the car to idle in order to warm up and reduce the cold start effect does not save fuel [120,231].

Advanced thermal management systems can accelerate the warm up phase for the engine and gearbox and limit the effect of cold start on fuel consumption These systems incorporate separate cooling circuits for engine block and cylinder head, cooling systems with switchable components (e.g. the coolant pump, cooled exhaust manifolds), exhaust gas heat recovery (e.g. Rankine cycle and thermoelectric generator) and other technologies that control the vehicle's cooling system. Fig. 4.2 presents the effect of such systems. Advanced thermal management can have a benefit over the vehicle certification test cycle and real-world conditions but it is not possible to quantify the contribution of such systems to the gap between official and real fuel consumption. In the case of hybrid vehicles, heat storage systems ensure that the cooling down of the powertrain system during low load or fully electric operation mode does not exceed certain boundaries [232].

4.1.3.1. Eco-innovations related to cold start. Two groups of technologies that relate to cold start have received the Eco-innovation status: engine encapsulation and enthalpy storage tanks. Engine encapsulation is a technology that reduces the cold start effect by reducing the cooling of the powertrain system during the stop time [233]. The system reduces the heat loss by slowing the cool-down of the engine when it is turned off. This technology can have important savings in urban driving where a large number of non-consecutive trips take place.

With regard to the enthalpy storage tank, heat from the coolant is stored into a thermally insulated tank when the vehicle is turned off [234]. Upon restarting the engine, the hot coolant is circulating in order to heat the engine compartments, therefore reducing the cold start effect. The average CO_2 emissions benefits of these two technologies considering various parking times at a 14 °C ambient temperature (the average European temperature) are expected to be about $1-4 \text{ gCO}_2/\text{km}$ depending on the vehicle type, size and technology.

4.1.4. Wind conditions

Ambient winds are almost always present and affect the aerodynamic performance of vehicles when driving at higher speeds. Wind



Fig. 4.2. Decrease in CO_2 emissions by technology type. The references cited in this figure are [127,278,279].

direction tends to change during on-road driving due to weather conditions, the varying landscape or vehicle turning. Wind perpendicular to the car's motion is called crosswind and apart from prevailing ambient winds it can be caused by another passing vehicle and result in an asymmetric flow around the vehicle affecting drag. lift and pitching moment that can cause instability [235]. When the vehicle turns, or when the velocity is reduced, the angle between the direction of the apparent wind and that of the vehicle speed (yaw angle) changes and the car exposes a larger area to the wind than its actual frontal area. Depending on the conditions this may lead to increases in aerodynamic resistance. In real-world conditions wind is affected by roadside objects and other vehicles that cause a non-uniform airflow and turbulence, conditions that deviate from the ideal ones found in the laboratory or during the coast down test [236]. Despite the effect of crosswinds, yaw angle and speed, the majority of published studies examine aerodynamics at zero yaw angle wind conditions [237].

Wind tunnel tests for yaw angles from 0° to 40° found that the aerodynamic coefficient obtains the maximum value at a 35° yaw angle [238] having a significant impact on large square shaped vehicles such as sports utility vehicles (SUVs) or trucks. A study [235] focusing on the impact of crosswind angle and velocity on the air drag coefficient showed a decrease in drag coefficient from 0.55 to 0.45 when yaw angle changed from 0° to 15° respectively. However, drag coefficient increased at higher yaw angles reaching 0.60–0.65 at 90° for crosswind speeds of 80–120 km/h respectively (9–18% increase compared to 0°).

The effect of crosswind under different yaw conditions on car aerodynamics was investigated by Landström et al. [237] taking into consideration the effects of the rotating wheels and air inlets. Fig. 4.3 presents the difference in the drag coefficient for various yaw angle values for four car configurations. There is a significant increase in drag in yaw angles between 8° and 18°.

Additionally, wind velocity is important as for example a velocity of 3 m/s can influence air drag, either positively or negatively, by up to 10% [116] that in turn translates in a 2% average CO_2 emissions increase [89,101]. Wind conditions can therefore have a measurable impact on in-use fuel consumption and CO_2 emissions, increasing the gap between reported values and the consumption experienced by the drivers.



Fig. 4.3. Difference in aerodynamic coefficient for various yaw angle values (adapted from [237]).

4.2. Altitude

An increase in altitude is reported to decrease fuel consumption [18] as lower atmospheric pressure leads to reduced air density and lower air drag [81,239]. At 1000 m above sea level the density of air is approximately 10% lower compared to that foreseen for the official testing of vehicle road loads (air drag) and fuel consumption. The resulting decrease in air drag can lead to a 2-3% reduction in fuel consumption reduction.

Lower air density can also influence fuel consumption by affecting engine operation when the air/fuel mixture in the engine is controlled by means of throttling. Due to the lower oxygen content of air, a wider throttle opening is necessary for charging the engine in order to achieve the same power output, fact which in turn may result in lower pumping losses and lower fuel consumption. Operating at high altitude has been found to result in a 3.5% decrease in fuel consumption compared to the NEDC measurement and 2.6% decreased compared to the FTP cycle [240]. Decreases in the same order of magnitude (4-5%) have been also reported for test tracks located at high altitude and in warm climates [18]. Paradoxically, an increase in fuel consumption of 6.2% was found [240] in highway driving conditions. A possible explanation of this observation at high speed/load conditions could be that the vehicle operated close to full load conditions. In such cases the reduction in engine power output due to the engine's lower volumetric efficiency may result in fuel enrichment introduced to compensate the power deficit and [241] notes that such enrichments would increase fuel consumption in the case of naturally aspirated engines. A study [239] on naturally aspirated engines investigated the effect of altitude on fuel consumption and exhaust emissions over a cruising driving cycle and the NEDC. The authors found an increase in fuel consumption that accounts for 0.2 l/100 km per 1000 m of altitude increase for both cycles.

4.3. Road

With the term "road" we refer to the road characteristics such as morphology, road surface and road shape. All of them can impact real-world CO_2 emissions but none of them is currently reflected in vehicle certification tests. Road morphology refers to the geomorphological characteristics of the road. The characteristics that have an effect on fuel consumption are altitude, road shape, road surface and grade. The structural condition of the road surface is described by the roughness and the texture while construction materials used for the road surface include asphalt and cement.

4.3.1. Road grade

A car that is driven uphill requires more power to overcome gravity than one that is on a flat road while a car that is going downhill requires less. Road grade has an important effect on vehicle CO₂ emissions. Researchers [242] performed measurements and simulations on a passenger car, investigating the effect of grade on CO₂ and testing the CO₂ emissions sensitivity over a fixed route. They identified increases in CO₂ emissions of up to 2% for grades of 0.25% and 5% for grades of the order of 1%. In the case of negative slope the reductions in fuel consumption reported were approximately -1%and -3.5% for grades of -0.25% and -1% respectively. The study notes that in order to estimate vehicle CO₂ exhaust emissions at a micro-scale in real-world conditions, a representative road grade profile for each second of the test data is needed and concludes that transport management and urban planning projects should be incorporating road grade into their analysis where prediction of realworld vehicle CO₂ emissions and fuel consumption is required. As reported by Park and Rakha [243] a 1.5% increase in roadway grade increases fuel consumption by 9%. Measurements [244] of passenger car fuel consumption over two different routes leading to the same destination, with one route being flat while the other one containing uphill and downhill sections, showed increases of 15–20% for the hilly route. The fact that the additional fuel consumed when travelling uphill is not fully compensated by the fuel savings when travelling downhill contributes to the fuel consumption gap. This hysteresis in fuel consumption due to road grade should be taken into consideration when comparing real-world fuel consumption with official data.

4.3.2. Road roughness and texture

The roughness of the road is the vertical deviation of the intended longitudinal profile of the surface [245] and is measured by means of the International Roughness Index (IRI). The IRI is based on the average rectified slope (ARS), a filtered ratio of a standard vehicle's accumulated suspension motion (in mm, inches, etc.) divided by the distance travelled by the vehicle during the measurement (km, mi, etc.) [246]. Roughness depends on the construction and the condition of the road and is used as an indicator for maintenance. A typical range of IRI values is 2–16 mm/m, with 2 being high quality surface similar to that of airport runways and superhighways while values of 12 mm/m and above correspond to eroded surfaces with deep depressions. An IRI value between 3 and 7 mm/m can be considered as typical for most European roads. Rough roads limit maximum speed, while causing discomfort to the passengers [247,248]. Fuel consumption increases by up to 3% for an average light commercial vehicle and by 4% for a medium sized passenger car for an IRI value of 5 mm/m compared to a reference IRI = 2 mm/m surface [248]. The roughness of roads deteriorates with time leading to increases in fuel consumption of vehicles.

Texture is the deviation from a planar surface and plays a part in road surface friction resistance and assists in the braking of vehicles [249]. While vehicle suspension deflection and dynamic tire loads are affected by longer wavelength (roughness), road texture affects the interaction between the road surface and the tyre footprint. Road texture is defined based on its wavelength and its effect varies accordingly with its size. As a means of quantification in a single value the root mean square (RMS) of texture depth is used [250]. The smaller the wavelength the more beneficial its effects such as better friction, lower rolling resistance and noise reduction. The texture RMS is linearly linked to the rolling resistance coefficient with pavements of higher RMS exhibiting higher rolling resistance coefficients and fuel consumption [251]. High RMS values can increase rolling resistance by 5 to 10% [252], while changes in texture could result in a 5–10% increase in fuel consumption [188].

Road construction materials define road texture and roughness. Cement pavements tend to exhibit high roughness and texture compared to asphalt pavements [188]. In Sweden fuel consumption increases by 0.8% on cement roads compared to asphalt roads at a speed of 50 km/h. This difference increases to 3.3% at a speed of 70 km/h. In the Netherlands a speed of 90 km/h increases fuel consumption by 2.7% on concrete roads. In the US urban driving speeds of less than 50 km/h fuel consumption is 4% higher by on asphalt than on concrete roads [253].

4.4. Traffic conditions and congestion

Traffic refers to the number of vehicles that are moving on a road at a given time. Increased traffic will affect the speed profile of the vehicles during a trip but may also influence the behaviour of the drivers. Increased traffic in most occasions leads to increases in the vehicles' fuel consumption [254] that may be severe under low speed urban driving conditions and in heavy traffic [255]. The urban part of NEDC represents relatively intense traffic conditions [136,256,257] exhibiting an average speed of 18 km/h.

Increased traffic affects fuel consumption in several ways. It reduces the average and maximum speed of the trip, it increases transient operation (accelerations-decelerations) and can result in congested conditions that are characterized by low vehicle speeds, vehicle standstills and increased engine idling [254,258,259,261]. The impact of traffic on vehicle fuel consumption is not uniform and depends on the characteristics of the vehicle fleet and the geographical area where the vehicle is driven [200–202].

In the case of Europe, a typical example of the effect of average speed/traffic conditions on CO₂ emissions and fuel consumption [262] can be found in Fig. 4.4. The continuous lines demonstrate the predictions of two widely used European emission inventory tools (COPERT and HBEFA) [263,264] while the dots and the corresponding error bars demonstrate the average experimental results and their standard deviation respectively. The experimental results which were obtained from tests on various Euro 5 vehicles over different driving cycles (NEDC, Artemis, and WMTC) confirm the capacity of such tools to capture the effect of different traffic conditions on CO₂ emissions. Trips with low average speed (<30 km/h) exhibit the highest CO₂ emissions and the highest divergence from the NEDC result which, at 18 km/h, reaches on average 40% for the diesel and 60% for the petrol cars. The optimal trip speed in terms of CO₂ are in the range of 60 to 80 km/h where emissions tend to be 15% and 23% lower compared to the NEDC ones for diesel and petrol vehicles respectively. The trend is reversed above 80-90 km/h and the gap is widened as speed increases. The situation is different for hybrid vehicles where the contribution of the electrical system, during urban driving conditions, offers significant fuel consumption reductions [265].

It is reported that in high speed driving increased traffic may lead to reduced fuel consumption as drivers are forced to maintain



Fig. 4.4. Impact of average driving speed on CO2 emissions of Euro 5 vehicles [262].

lower speeds and to adapt their driving to the trajectory of the leader vehicle [266].

Heavy traffic can result in congestion and alter operating conditions on a given road. Congestion is the deterioration of smooth. free-flowing traffic conditions due to increased travel demand and/or reduced traffic movement capacity [267]. Congestion is in general considered to be the traffic condition leading to the highest fuel consumption and can result in a 40% higher fuel consumption compared to driving the same trip in uncongested conditions [268]. A US study [269] estimated that the fraction of fuel wasted due to traffic congestion will reach 2.6% of the overall fuel consumption by 2020. Another study [266] compared CO₂ emissions from cars operating at steady state conditions to the emissions during real-world driving conditions and found an increase of 40% at 45 km/h due to congestion. The average increase in fuel consumption for congested roads calculated from all the examined cases is about 26%. Fig. 4.5 shows the effect of congestion on fuel consumption for various route types.

Vehicle standstill in congested roads leads to prolonged idling times, which in turn has a fuel consumption penalty. Vehicle idling applies if the vehicle does not feature any engine start and stop system [270,18] as start stop systems are designed to switch off the engine at vehicle standstill. In the EU an estimated 43% of new gasoline vehicles and 55% of new diesel vehicles (2013) [271] are equipped with start stop systems. The suppression of idling during the vehicle certification test and in real-world driving can reduce fuel consumption [272] by up to 8% for a small size and 9.5% for an average sized vehicle [273]. The latter values are considered relatively high for modern European passenger cars, not equipped with start stop systems, tested over NEDC where the contribution of idling in the total CO_2 emissions is about 2–3% for manual transmission vehicles and 4–5% for automatic transmission vehicles.

Finally, congestion can lead to fuel consumption increases by affecting how the drivers actually drive as it can cause delays and increases drivers' stress [274]. In an effort to compensate for such delays, drivers may adopt a more aggressive driving style compared to how they would normally drive for the rest of their trip. However, optimizing driving behaviour is considered important to improve the overall energy consumption [275] with the eco-driving concept being discussed as early as 1986 [276].



Fig. 4.5. Effect of congestion on fuel consumption compared to free flow traffic by route type. The references cited in this figure are [254,266,268].

5. Driver and user related factors

5.1. Driving

The way the vehicle is driven has a substantial impact in fuel consumption. The term more frequently used to characterize the way a vehicle is being driven is driving behaviour. Driving behaviour refers to the personal driving style of a driver and is characterized by instantaneous and average speed, acceleration and choice of gears [280]. Driving behaviour may depend on the personal character, age and gender of the driver [126,280], as well as on external factors such as roads, journey type, weather and traffic conditions [281]. Aggressive driving is known to increase fuel consumption and CO₂ emissions [126,137,281], while driver training leads to decreased fuel consumption [16,282,283].

5.1.1. Aggressive driving

Aggressive driving, in some cases referred to also as "dynamic driving", is characterized by high accelerations and decelerations, high maximum vehicle speeds and high engine operating RPMs that lead to increased fuel consumption [281,126,86]. It is difficult to define an average driving behaviour to be used as a European reference. The maximum speed is the factor with the highest influence on fuel consumption [284]. In a dataset of over 500,000 vehicles, where users register online their fuel consumption between fuelling events and provide also information about their driving style, users who declared a "speedy" style have on average 7% higher fuel consumption compared to those declaring a balanced driving [19]. However, it should be noted that when testing vehicles in real-world driving conditions, it is difficult to distinguish the effect of traffic conditions from that of aggressive driving [285]. Fig. 5.1 summarizes the values collected regarding the effect of aggressive driving on fuel consumption.

Considering the average value of the results presented in Fig. 5.1, it has been estimated that fuel consumption for aggressive driving can increase by 25%. Increases are substantially more pronounced in urban driving conditions. This observation is attributed to the



Fig. 5.1. Increase in fuel consumption for aggressive driving compared to normal driving. Error bars correspond to minimum–maximum observed values. The references cited in this figure are [19,268,284,322–326].

influence of idle consumption, the frequent start and stops and the frequent accelerations in urban conditions. The tests on the highway resulted in lower increases because of the minimal idling and accelerations and high average speed. The identified difference between EU and US could be traced back to the fact that cars in the US exhibit higher fuel consumption compared to their European counterparts. This means that the baseline fuel consumption is already higher in the US (see also Table 2.2) so the relative fuel penalty introduced by aggressive driving is lower [218].

5.1.2. Driving mode

Some cars offer built-in driving modes for achieving more dynamic performance or reduced fuel consumption. These modes can adjust engine tuning, gear shifting in the case of automatic gearboxes, perform suspension adjustment and engage four-wheel drive when necessary.

An internet search of manufacturers' websites for information about these technologies revealed three general types of modes: (a) Eco, for reducing fuel consumption; (b) Normal, which is the baseline operation of the car; and (c) Sport, for better performance in terms of vehicle responsiveness and power output, which is expected to be the most fuel consuming mode.

Certain modes [286] claim to offer a 20% improvement in fuel consumption by using pedal and gear recognition, brake energy recuperation, optimizing shifting and A/C temperature control, while providing additional information for more efficient driving to the driver. The same manufacturer offers a "Sport" mode option, where the car is adjusted to a more dynamic style, while the engine is more responsive and the suspension is stiffer, but no figure for the fuel consumption penalty associated with this mode was found [287]. Similarly, Toyota [288] claims that the "Sport" mode option leads to faster acceleration by increasing throttle response, higher gear shifting, more performance - oriented RPM and adjusted electric power steering assist for a sportier feeling. However, the CO₂ or fuel consumption penalty was not reported. According to VW [289], the "Eco" mode leads to more environmental friendly driving with less emissions and lower fuel consumption by optimizing engine, gearbox and A/C performance. The decrease is not specified by the manufacturer and the expected CO₂ penalties for the sport mode, which results in faster accelerations and better steering response, are not provided. Certain non-OEM affiliated sources [290] claim to have observed a 11% increase in fuel consumption for the "sport" mode without providing detailed information on how such numbers are produced. Finally, some hybrid electric cars offer the option to use the vehicle in an all-electric mode (EV). Manufacturers encourage the use of this mode for a short distance at low speeds, in traffic, in closed spaces such as garages and to decrease noise late at night [291,292]. It was not possible to find an extensive scientific study regarding driving modes, as there is no common definition for the terms and every manufacturer uses its own settings.

5.1.3. Eco-driving

Drivers can be trained in practices that reduce fuel consumption, pollutant emissions [293] and result in safer driving. Fuel efficient driving consists of earlier gear shifting for achieving lower engine RPMs, maintaining steady vehicle speeds, anticipation of traffic movement, smooth deceleration and stopping [16,219]. The website of the Natural Resources of the Government of Canada [294] shows five fuel efficient driving techniques compared to an average driving style, without quantifying their benefit. These techniques include gentle accelerations, coast down decelerations, maintaining a steady speed and avoidance of high speeds, which in essence summarize the main principles of Eco-driving.

A study investigated the effect of four speed patterns on fuel consumption in three vehicles for a fixed distance on a chassis dynamometer [295]. Eco-driving conditions comprised smooth changes in velocity and maintaining constant speed. The study found an 11.7% decrease in fuel consumption compared to average driving. It was also found that the installation of certain accessories on the vehicle, such as the gear shift indicator or fuel consumption indicators, which directly or indirectly instruct the driver how to drive in a more efficient manner, have a quantifiable effect in decreasing fuel consumption [265,18]. Of course this does not guarantee that all drivers follow the suggested gear shifting in real-world driving conditions. The use of gear shifting indicators was tested during the NEDC and it was found that the most prominent improvement was in the urban phase, while the gains in the extra-urban phase were negligible [296]. However, higher CO_2 savings were achieved in the cold start accounting for a 4.3% reduction compared to the baseline, while in the warm start the reductions were estimated to be 3.6%.

Fig. 5.2 summaries the effectiveness of eco-driving strategies. The simplest strategy presented here is optimal gear shifting, while further training consists of more elements such as smooth accelerations and decelerations, braking and traffic anticipation. A study [297] suggests that improved navigation systems and intelligent use of navigation data is expected to improve the efficiency of eco-driving strategies. The authors of [19] have conducted a statistical analysis on data provided by individual drivers who declared their fuel consumption and driving style voluntarily. Although eco-driving technique was not specified in the data collection form, drivers who characterized their style as economical resulted in 9% lower fuel consumption compared to the ones who declared normal driving style.

5.1.4. Four-wheel drive

Many cars are sold with a switchable two-wheel (2WD) and fourwheel (4WD) drive mode. It is not obligatory to test such vehicles during certification in 4WD mode and the common practice is to perform the vehicle certification test in two-wheel mode [158]. Laboratory measurements [298] on a chassis dyno over a low speed driving cycle in 2WD and 4WD modes revealed 1.5% savings in fuel economy for the 2WD mode. Engaging four-wheel traction in realworld driving conditions increases the power losses in a vehicle's driveline leading to an increase in fuel consumption. A four wheel drive vehicle in real-world operation can have an increased fuel consumption of 0.5 l/100 km [141]. No scientific references were found with regard to the extent to which drivers use the 4WD mode in real-world driving conditions.

5.1.5. ADAS

Several new vehicles are equipped with Advanced Driver Aid Systems (ADAS) that deploy a series of sophisticated sensors such as rear view cameras and radars to provide additional information to the driver and the vehicle [299]. These systems are marketed as fuel saving technologies [300], offering advice to the driver on optimal practices or in some cases by acting independently of the driver on the vehicle's operation and controls [301]. The deployment of such systems does not aim only to reduce fuel consumption, but also to increase road safety by providing warnings such as possible collisions with other vehicles and by detecting pedestrians and traffic signs [302,303]. In addition, integrated communication systems utilize data collected by ADAS that is shared with other vehicles and infrastructure and inform other drivers on the traffic conditions [303]. The EC funded ICT-emissions project investigated vehicle and infrastructure information exchange in order to optimize traffic flow [304]. The study showed that information exchange can lead to reductions in CO₂ emissions exceeding 15% in urban driving for a combination of ADAS, stop-start systems and eco-driving patterns [305]. An ACEA backed study investigated the effect of ADAS on fuel consumption by deploying dynamic navigation tools to reduce trip fuel consumption and driving recognition patterns that provide



Source

Fig. 5.2. Decrease in fuel consumption for Eco – driving compared to normal driving. The references cited in this figure are [16,18,19,282,283,295,296,327].

feedback to the driver. The study found a 5-20% improvement in fuel consumption compared to average driving [306].

5.1.5.1. Eco-innovations related to ADAS systems. Two groups of technology, which can be considered as ADAS systems, have been granted eco-innovation status: predictive energy management and coasting. Predictive energy management is a technology that focuses on hybrid vehicles [307]. The technology receives geospatial data from the navigation system of the vehicle and adapts energy usage strategy and recuperation by predicting upcoming changes to the slope of the route. The expected CO₂ reduction benefits of this technology are approximately $1-3 \text{ gCO}_2/\text{km}$.

Coasting technology [308] utilizes an automatic gearbox that disengages the engine from the wheels to permit the vehicle to coast when engine idling leads to fuel savings compared to engine braking mode. The engine is idling and continues to provide power to the auxiliary equipment. The expected CO_2 reduction benefits are about $1-5 \text{ gCO}_2/\text{km}$.

5.2. Open windows

Open windows affect the normal flow of the air around the vehicle influencing its aerodynamic resistance. The range and magnitude of this influence depends on the vehicle's shape, the average speed and how much and which windows are open. The data collected on the issue were scarce and insufficient for drawing a solid conclusion. The main source found was a study [122] for US vehicles quantifying the effect of open windows on CO₂ emissions. The study presents the results of measurements on two vehicles over 64 to 129 km/h with an 8 km/h interval. A sedan and an SUV vehicle were tested with all windows closed and open. In the case of the sedan in a speed range between 65 and 130 km/h, open windows resulted in an increase in CO₂ emissions of 5.6 to 8.3%. The influence of open windows was less prominent in the case of the SUV, leading to increases between 0.3 to 2.3%. The increased in aerodynamic resistance caused by the opening of windows is low in the case of the SUV compared to the resistance of the aerodynamically optimized sedan vehicle.

Opening the windows could be viewed as a more fuel efficient practice for reducing the temperature in the car's cabin compared to the use of air-conditioning. Limited information is available as to which of the two is the best in terms of fuel saving and up to what speed. OEAMTC [144] claims that for speeds up to 90 km/h the impact of open windows on fuel consumption is lower than the use of A/C. Auto Alliance [309] in their Eco-driver's manual suggests that windows should be left open up to the speed of 65 km/h.

5.3. Occupancy rates

Occupancy rate is defined as the number of passengers per vehicle, including the driver, and it directly affects the weight of the cars under real-world driving conditions operation and its fuel consumption. The EEA [310] reported a decreasing trend in occupancy rates from 1.75 in 1980 to 1.6 in 2003 for Denmark, the Netherlands and the United Kingdom. The International Energy Agency (IEA) [180] reported even lower figures, 1.37 for urban vehicle occupancy and 1.15 for commute vehicle occupancy in Europe. The EEA [311] states that according to the last available data (pre 2008), the average number of passengers per car (including the driver) was approximately 1.45 passengers per vehicle for the selected countries (in the UK -1.58; Germany – 1.42 and Netherlands – 1.38). The possible reasons for this decrease is the greater individualization of society, the decline in household sizes and the increase in car ownership, but they comment that the rate of decline has slowed in recent years. EEA considers the trend to be representative of the whole EU.

Based on the information collected, an occupancy rate of 1.5 passenger/vehicle can be considered representative of the EU average conditions. However, this value varies between countries and depends on the driving conditions with long distance trips having higher rates than short urban trips. Given the rate of decrease one would expect even lower occupancy rates today. Nevertheless, since 2008 the promotion of car-pooling, the appearance of new car-sharing services and the economic crisis may have further slowed down this trend because commuters have more opportunities for sharing a trip and have fewer resources to spend in order to drive their vehicles individually. It was not possible verify this assumption nor to retrieve more updated information regarding occupancy rates at the European level. The EEA has decided to discontinue the reporting of the occupancy rate indicator and archived the content as of 2015. This lack of data is an issue that needs be addressed in future research.

An occupancy rate of 1.5 passengers/vehicle corresponds to an additional mass of about 40 kg, not accounted for during the vehicle certification test. The average payload, excluding passengers, is estimated to be 55 kg [65], adding up to a total 95 kg of average extra load, that is not taken into consideration. This additional weight could lead to a 5-7% increase of in fuel consumption according to the values (see Fig. 3.1). The reduction in vehicle occupancy limits the gap between official and real-world fuel consumption because the vehicle mass is closer to the one used in the official test [260]. However, a high occupancy rate is desirable in all transport modes as it leads to lower emissions and consumption per passenger. Considering the inelastic nature of passenger transport demand, increased occupancy rates can lead to CO₂ savings. Assuming an occupancy rate of 1.5 passengers per vehicle, the 2015 average CO₂ emissions of 120.7 g/km would translate into approximately 80 gCO₂/(passenger*km). In comparison, the equivalent values for city buses are estimated to be in the range of $15-30 \text{ gCO}_2$ (passenger*km) [312,313] depending on the operating conditions and bus type.

5.4. Fuel choice

Automotive fuels are blends of various types of hydrocarbons and other organic compounds, whose characteristics are regulated by the relevant standards [49,314]. In the certification test, vehicles use standardized fuels and their physical properties vary within a limited range. On the other hand, commercial fuel composition and characteristics may vary within a wider range due to climatic conditions, regional policy and market availability of blend-stocks. The latter becomes more evident considering variations of biocomponents in commercial fuel. For example the ethanol and biodiesel contents in conventional petrol and diesel fuels respectively are not uniform across EU [315]. In several countries different biofuel blends are available in the market in addition to standard fuel e.g. 10% or 85% Ethanol – Gasoline blends (E10, E85).

Choosing a fuel with high biofuel concentration is beneficial considering the overall GHG emissions over its lifecycle but can have a noticeable effect on fuel consumption and to a lesser extent on tailpipe CO₂ emissions. Using straight biodiesel is reported to increase fuel consumption by 9% [316] due to biodiesel's lower energy density. Biodiesel's effect on tailpipe emissions is limited leading to lower increases of about $2 \pm 1\%$ [317] as a result of the lower carbon content of the biofuel. Using E10 fuel increases the fuel consumption by 3.5-4% and marginally reduces tailpipe CO₂ [230,318,319] while E85 may increase fuel consumption by 30-35% while reducing tailpipe CO₂ by 5-7% [230].

Finally, climatic conditions require variations in fuel properties, in particular for diesel fuels, related to volatility, viscosity, formation of wax crystals and freezing point. The creation of crystals can lead to irregular fuel flow, filter clogging, loss of power, engine stall after start, or engine failure [320]. In order to prevent these effects, permissible diesel characteristics are adjusted each season [321], depending on country and climate. No data were found on the effect of seasonal fuel variation on fuel consumption, which will essentially depend on the fuel's energy content variation.

6. Vehicle certification test

A divergence between certification and in-use values can be expected due to the vehicle certification test's boundary conditions and other related factors related to the inherent inability to capture all possible operating conditions in a laboratory based test, particularly if this is a single driving cycle test. It is impossible for any kind of standard and lab-based test to cover all possible conditions of real-world driving. Nonetheless, it is important to point out the significance of various elasticities associated with any official laboratory test as they make reproduction of the results difficult for individual researchers. In addition, it is important that any test procedure retains a stable offset, or gap, compared to reality, at least on a statistical basis. Divergences appear to increase over time as discussed previously and can be linked mainly to two factors:

- i. Vehicle technologies or vehicle use do not display same CO₂ effect in the laboratory and in real-world driving conditions, therefore requiring test procedures to be revised and updated;
- ii. Vehicle manufacturers have learnt to exploit the margins of flexibility allowed by any test procedure.

The second element is important as it can be used by vehicle manufacturers at zero cost and can disrupt market competition. Manufacturers who exploit the test margins obtain an unfair competitive advantage compared to those who achieve the same fuel consumption by implementing costly technologies. As a consequence, when the vehicle certification test is undertaken by an independent body, significant deviations (beyond the natural test-to-test variability) between the test result and the official certification value arise.

A series of laboratory tests [328] conducted on petrol and diesel vehicles under the European type approval test procedure (NEDC test) showed a discrepancy of $15 \pm 10\%$ between laboratory measurements and type approval values. This difference is attributed to the preparation of the vehicle in terms of, for example, tyre pressure and state of battery charge and to the chassis dynamometer settings. Within the same project, the vehicles were driven on PEMS test routes and a deviation of $18\pm10\%$ for petrol vehicles and $24\pm7\%$ for diesel was reported. (see Fig. 6.1). Recent tests [29] carried out on behalf of the French ministry of transport have shown in some cases even higher deviations. Vehicles tested in an ex-post reproduction of the certification test were found to emit on average 15% more CO₂ than the certification value (with some vehicles emitting up to 50% more CO₂). The deviation represents a clear indication that the current European type-approval system, at least for what concerns the certification of fuel consumption and CO₂ emissions, has significant flaws that are being exploited in a way that the improvements in fuel consumption appear only during the vehicle certification procedure and have very little or no relevance in real driving conditions. In the following section, an overview of the main test flexibilities in the NEDC test procedure is reported.



Fig. 6.1. Average CO_2 emissions found in PEMS road test and in-house NEDC laboratory test for petrol and diesel vehicles. Emissions target refers to $130 \text{ gCO}_2/\text{km}$ in 2015 [328].

Table 6.1

Test elasticities of the European type approval test and their effect in reported CO₂ emissions as quantified by different literature sources.

Factor	Effect	Source
Use of inertia classes	CO_2 values off by 4–6 g/km compared to real values	[201]
	CO_2 emissions different from 2% to 11% compared to actual vehicle reference mass	[18]
Non-realistic acceleration and driving patterns	Discrepancy between NEDC and real-world consumption	[136,256,257]
High idle time	For vehicles equipped with Engine Start-Stop technology leads to unrealistic	[18,136,329]
•	decreases in CO_2 emissions (Overrated Start–Stop effect)	
Short test cycle	High cold start share leads to increased fuel consumption between 3% and 14%	[330]
-	Underestimates hot emissions compared to real-world driving cycles	[331]
Different wheel and tyre specifications in the NEDC than in real-world	Leads to lower fuel consumption by 2%	[136]
Flat surface, no simulation of altitude changes	Lower CO ₂ and fuel consumption over NEDC compared to real-world operation	[84,257]
Fully charged battery, not charging during the test	Lower CO ₂ and fuel consumption over NEDC compared to real-world operation	[136,332]
Test temperature between 20 and 30 °C	Driving NEDC at 29 °C compared to 20 °C could lead to lower CO ₂ and fuel consumption by 2%	[18,332]
	Average temperature in Europe is about 14 °C. Driving NEDC at 14 °C would increase CO ₂ by up to 6 g/km	[136]
Auxiliary systems are not taken into consideration	Lower NEDC CO ₂ compared to real world	[126]
	Use of A/C increased NEDC consumption by 5%	[136]
	Increased consumption between 2.8 and 10% when considering auxiliaries	[140, 159]
Special gear lubricant may be used in transmission	Decreased NEDC consumption by 1%	[178]
Declared result is allowed to be lower than what would be measured	The same CO ₂ value can be applied to vehicle variants exhibiting up to 4% higher	[18,332]
	NEDC CO ₂ emissions compared to a measured parent vehicle. Certification mea-	
	surement is likely to take place for the least polluting vehicle. As a result official	
	CO ₂ value can be lower up to 4%.	
Wheel and tyre optimization	Permitted increase in rolling radius by 5% decreases NEDC CO ₂ emissions by 2.5%	[332]
Road loads	Real-world road loads are 30% higher at high speeds compared to type approval;	[81]
	Coast down tests performed with different wheels compared to the one actually	
	sold with the vehicle (lower rolling resistance, higher moment of inertia result	
	in artificially lower road loads and consequently CO ₂)	
Non-realistic vehicle preconditioning	Setting the chassis-dynamometer to reproduce the vehicle road-loads requires	[333]
	the vehicle to be warmed up to reproduce the conditions of the coast-down	
	tests. An NEDC cycle is foreseen for vehicle warm up, resulting in lower temper-	
	atures in the vehicle's driveline and hence higher internal losses compared to	
	those occurring during the actual coast down test. As a result, lower forces are	
	applied to the vehicle by the dyno to match the same road loads which in turn	
	lead to lower CO_2 emissions by 1–3 g CO_2 /km.	

6.1. Test margins

The terms "margin", "flexibility" or "elasticity" refer to a specific provision or interpretation of the certification procedure or an absence of such a provision or clear interpretation that, if applied, results in the measurement of lower CO_2 emission values. The comparative term "lower" assumes as a reference the values that would occur if provisions, interpretations or practices more accurately reflect real-world driving conditions within the boundaries and technical limitations of the applicable measurement procedure. Although such flexibilities might not be "illegal" their intentional and systematic exploitation in order to achieve benefits should be considered to be against the spirit of the law.

The lack of binding prescriptions for certain elements of the test procedure can be due to two main reasons: (i) to make the procedure manageable in practical terms; and (ii) due to the lack of knowledge on the effect of a particular flexibility. In both cases, the problem arises for CO_2 and fuel consumption certification if the margins can be legally exploited in order to deliver lower values. Many European studies have been conducted on this issue. Table 6.1 presents a summary of the factors related to the test margins and their effect. In addition, Fig. 6.2 presents the test elasticities (average values per elasticity group) found in literature.

Regarding the longitudinal vehicle dynamics resulting from the speed profile of a single test cycle, researchers [55] argue that a set of driving cycles should be used instead. Different vehicles, differing in performance levels and usage characteristics, should be tested under different conditions.

The reference mass, as introduced in the current type approval process, equals the empty vehicle mass with an additional 100 kg to account for the driver and fuel. The reference mass is considered by definition lower than the operating mass as it does not take into account the weight of additional passengers, equipment transported or variations of the vehicle mass caused by extra components and accessories and different levels of equipment. The NEDC reference mass is linked to specific tiers (inertia classes). Inertia classes define the vehicle inertia that is simulated during the vehicle certification test. Each tier represents a range in the vehicle reference mass. The



Fig. 6.2. Discrepancy in fuel consumption between type approval and real world due to the test margins (median values of sources included in Table 6.1).

inertia used in each tier is the average mass of the tier. This led to a non-continuous distribution of vehicle mass contrary to what happens in reality where mass is a continuous quantity. This has been further exploited by vehicle manufacturers who have designed their vehicles in order to have a reference mass always close to the higher limit of the tier, and thus resulting in a vehicle inertia which is systematically lower that the reference mass.

Another important element affecting directly tyre rolling resistance during the test is tyre pressure. In NEDC there is no prescription concerning the tyre pressure, the common practice is therefore to inflate the tyre up to the maximum permissible pressure (\sim 3 bar), obtaining an advantage on the RRC. Keeping the pressure to the maximum permissible pressure results in a small but measurable benefit in CO₂ emissions due to the reduction of the tyre's rolling resistance characteristics and its contact surface with the chassis dyno. In addition to the pressure, another element affecting the vehicle rolling resistance is the tyre tread. In particular, the higher the depth of the tyre tread, the higher the RRC [175]. During type-approval tyre depth can be between 50 and 90%. Adopting the minimum depth [48], CO₂ emissions can be thus underestimated, capturing only a fraction of the tyre's tread lifetime contribution to emissions.

The present vehicle certification test is undertaken with the battery fully charged, as no indications on the state of charge of the battery are reported in the legislation, something that does not correspond to real-world driving conditions where battery status is subject to a series of factors ranging from weather conditions to frequency of vehicle use, traffic conditions and battery health. As vehicle controllers are set to maintain a constant state of charge at about 80–90% of the battery's capacity, it is likely that all electrical demands during the test are met through the discharge of the battery and no loads burden the alternator and the engine. In practical terms, electric loads are excluded from the officially reported CO_2 values [65].

The above constitute a summary of the main test flexibilities that can be used to artificially reduce CO_2 emissions during the certification tests. Going into the details of all possible flexibilities is beyond the scope of the present paper.

6.2. Vehicle certification testing in Japan and the United States

The majority of the vehicles sold in Europe (about 90%) are produced by European manufacturers [39], followed by manufacturers based in the USA and Japan and with a low portion of the sales from South Korea [39]. The vehicle certification test in Japan and the United States has been revised to provide realistic values. In Japan the certification test was based on the 10–15 mode that was a cycle comprised of three segments accounting for urban driving (10 mode) and one segment for highway driving (15 mode) [334]. The 10–15 mode was replaced by the JC08, which is a more stringent procedure, that was phased in from 2008 to 2011 [335,336]. The JC08 is considered to deliver realistic emission values [337] but it has a lower average speed than the NEDC (22.7 km/h compared to 44.1 km/h of the NEDC, excluding stops) in order to compensate for the lower speed limits in Japan, which are set at 100 km/h at the express way [338], comparatively lower than the 120–130 km/h [339] set in Europe.

The US EPA utilizes a set of cycles that comprised of city and highway cycles, with an average speed of 34.1 km/h and 77.7 km/h, respectively. After 2008 three supplementary tests were included to address different driving conditions. The highspeed supplementary test includes the US06 test cycle that has an average speed of 77.9 km/h, but has higher top speed than the highway speed cycle (128.7 km/h and 96.5 km/h, respectively) and stronger accelerations $(13.6 \text{ km/s}^2 \text{ and } 5.1 \text{ km/s}^2)$ respectively). The effect of the use of air-conditioning is measured over the SC03 test cycle at 35 °C with the A/C switched on. Finally, the effect of low temperature on emissions is measured with a city cycle at a laboratory temperature of $-6.7 \,^{\circ}\text{C}$ [72]. Emission standard compliance is measured under the city and highway cycles that provide the unadjusted emission values, but they do not take into consideration the driving conditions previously mentioned. For this reason the values are adjusted based on the supplementary tests and the adjusted fuel economy is provided to the customers [340]. Fig. 6.3 presents the ratio between on-road and official CO₂ emissions. A divergence of about 30% for the unadjusted values and close to zero for the adjusted can be seen. Additionally, the data shows that while there was a negative gap in the adjusted values there has been a converging trend to zero in recent years [136]. In addition to the certification procedure, the US EPA has a surveillance programme and conducts tests on in-use vehicles to ensure that they comply with emission standards and they do not deviate from the laboratory measurements by a factor of 1.3 [15,73]. Violations can lead to significant fines for the vehicle manufacturer [10].



Fig. 6.3. Ratio of on-road and official CO₂ emissions values by year [136].

6.3. The WLTP introduction

The limitations in the NEDC procedure has resulted in the demand for a new, more realistic and robust test procedure. As a result, in 2009 the World Forum for Harmonization of Vehicle Regulations initiated action to develop a new harmonized procedure. In 2014 the United Nations Economic Commission for Europe (UNECE) adopted the first global technical regulation including the main aspects of the new procedure [59]. The Worldwide Harmonized Light Duty Test Procedure, WLTP, is the name of the procedure. In 2016 a new package was adopted to cover all the aspects of the vehicle tests for fuel consumption, CO₂ emissions and pollutant emissions. The introduction of the new test procedure in the different type-approval systems will depend on the specific country. The EU will be the first to introduce it (by the end 2017) followed by Japan. China, India, South Korea are expected to introduce it immediately after. US will first assess the possible benefits before deciding whether to adopt it or not.

In Europe the WLTP is expected to address many of the limitations of the current type approval test and act as a valuable reference basis for vehicle CO_2 certification and monitoring. Table 6.2 presents the main improvements of the WLTP with respect to the NEDC. The changes are divided in four categories, namely: (i) road-load determination; (ii) laboratory test; (iii) processing test results; and (iv) Certificate of Conformity (CoC).

With regards to (i) a series of changes take place. In WLTP for example the definition of the mass has changed (to be more realistic by e.g. including the effect of optional equipment). In addition, the mass is allowed to vary in a continuous way (inertia classes have been removed). A new more detailed protocol regarding the calculation of resistance forces is introduced; tyre characteristics are strictly defined as are the boundary conditions for tyre pressure and pressure during the test. For example, the WLTP prescribes that the type-approval test is carried out with the tyre pressure set at the minimum of its range, resulting in an

dard for the minimum tyre tread depth is more stringent
(80%-100%) than under NEDC (50-90%). In category (ii) the new
speed profile and gears shifting calculation algorithm are the main
changes whereas more strict definitions regarding the test tem-
perature boundaries and the vehicle preconditioning are intro-
duced. The world harmonized driving cycle (WLTC) is expected to
address the issue of a non-realistic speed profile or traffic condi-
tions. The WLTC cycle was produced from around 1 million km of
real-world vehicle activities and is subdivided in four different
phases reflecting traffic conditions at different average speeds
[59]. With regards to the processing of the final results, new con-
cepts are foreseen such as the correction of the fuel consumption
for the difference between the test temperature (23 °C) and the
average European temperature value of 14 °C and the correction
addressing the effect of battery depletion during the test (battery
State Of Charge correction). Finally, the current type approval
extension mechanism, resulting in up to 4% lower emissions com-
pared to the tested one, is abolished and a new definition of vehi-
cle families and how the certification can be extended to vehicles
of similar characteristics is introduced. Errors and flexibilities in
the test execution and road load determination have been also
corrected. This will contribute to achieving a more realistic certifi-
cation value. The impact of the introduction of WLTP on the aver-
age fleet-wide CO_2 is estimated to be of the order of $15-25\%$
[26,277,342,343], increasing the average CO ₂ of new passenger
cars between 18 and 30 g/km (although any calculation has a
wide margin of uncertainty due to the fact that the new defini-
tions in the protocol regarding vehicle classification, road load
determination and type approval extension cannot be easily quan-
tined). WLIP in its first stage is lacking any correction for the use
of air-conditioning and there is no ex-post correction of the proto-
cor based on the real-world performance of venicles. So although
une real world – certification gap will be reduced to a certain
extent a measurable difference is likely to remain. Due to the

approximate 0.3% increase in CO₂ emissions [341]. The WLTP stan-

Table 6.2Comparison of NEDC and WLTP [50].

Category	ltem	in NEDC	in WLTP	Impact on CO ₂
ermination	Vehicle test mass	Present	Modified	1
	Tire selection	Present	Modified	1
	Tire pressure	Present	Modified	
Dete	Tire tread depth	Present	Modified	1
ad Load	Calculation of resistance forces	Present	Corrected	1
	Inertia of rotating parts	Absent	Introduced	1
Rc	Default road load coefficient	Present	Modified	?
y test	Driving cycle	Present	Modified	1
	Test temperature	Present	Modified	1
ator	Vehicle inertia	Present	Modified	1
abor	Preconditioning	Present	Modified	1
Ľ	Gear Shift Strategy	Present	Modified	₽
Processing test results	Battery state of charge correction	Absent	Introduced	1
	Correction for the average EU temperature	Absent	Under discussion	1
	Correction of cycle flexibilities	Absent	Under discussion	±

existence of specific CO_2 targets associated with the NEDC, the old procedure will remain as a legal reference for all CO_2 related targets until year 2021.

7. Summary discussion and conclusions

Several studies have focused on the issue of the gap between real-world and vehicle certification fuel consumption and CO₂ emissions. Passenger car emissions are reported to be higher in realworld driving conditions compared to the official laboratory testbased values. The present (2014–2015) gap is estimated to be of the order of 30–40% while there are sources claiming that it reaches as much as 50%. For an average European passenger car, which is reported to emit in 2015 slightly more than 120 gCO₂/km, this gap translates in an extra 36-48 gCO₂/km or an increase of fuel consumption of about 1.5 to 2 l/100 km (petrol equivalent). This corresponds to a significant increase in the operating costs of vehicles in real-world driving conditions. A conclusion common in almost all studies is that the gap has been increasing with time. This trend can be traced back to a series of factors related to the actual use of vehicles (e.g. frequent use of A/C systems, electric auxiliaries, traffic conditions) and test related shortcomings. Some researchers conclude that the introduction of European mandatory CO₂ targets in 2009 pushed vehicle OEMs to optimize the fuel consumption over the official cycle taking advantage in several cases of the margins allowed by an old and to some extent outdated test procedure. These margins are also the topic of various studies with an approximate influence estimated to be between 10 and 20%. This range has been also demonstrated by recent tests conducted in various countries.

A series of factors affecting fuel consumption of passenger cars over laboratory and real-world driving conditions were identified. Several factors had been thoroughly assessed in previous studies, such as the influence of ambient temperature on cold start or the influence of mass increase. For some other factors such as rain or snow, scarce data were available despite their apparent influence on vehicle fuel consumption. The majority of the studies reviewed investigate the impact of these factors on CO₂ emissions and/or fuel consumption over experimental tests undertaken on-road or in the laboratory. In fewer cases simulation and other analytic approaches are used for quantifying the effect. One of the difficulties in pooling together all this information and extracting quantifiable results is the absence of a common reference. Indeed the baseline in each study is different as are the test conditions and the vehicle under investigation. In order to consolidate the information collected, the reported effect of each factor on consumption or emissions was normalized and expressed as a percentile effect on CO₂ emissions over real-world driving conditions when compared to the respective laboratory reference test. The median of these normalized values can be considered as an indicator of each factor's potential impact on fuel consumption (Table 7.1). In addition to the median value, the standard deviation of the findings is provided as a measure of the spread of the results and the accordance between different studies. The standard deviation, together with the extreme values found, provide a first estimate of the uncertainty associated with the guantification of the effect of each factor. It is observed that for most factors the value of the standard deviation is comparable or even higher than the median value. Hence, there is a high uncertainty in these estimations and also a high dispersion of the results from different studies. The latter occurs due to a number of reasons such as the use of different types of vehicles and the absence of common protocols and testing procedures.

The information of Table 7.1 was used for formulating a scenario on the passenger car real-world CO_2 emissions and for calculating an indicative value for the CO_2 gap in 2015. The characteristics of the vehicle considered in the calculation correspond to those of the average European passenger car as presented in Table 2.1 (120 gCO₂/km, 1380 kg, 1600 cc). Wherever it was necessary to translate from fuel consumption to CO_2 emissions a fuel mix of 46% petrol and 54% diesel was considered and a weighted average value was used. The main assumptions made for this "real-world" operation scenario were the following:

- A flat 15% increase was considered due to the test protocol flexibilities; 6% originated from optimal adjustments of the certification vehicle compared to the production vehicles, 5% originated from the protocol design and its foreseen boundaries and 4% reflected the fixed homologation tolerance allowed.
- An additional mass equal to 100 kg was assumed accounting for an occupancy rate of 1.5 person/vehicle, extra luggage and additional equipment compared to the certification vehicle
- An increase of 2% in CO₂ emissions was assumed reflecting an increased aerodynamic resistance due to factors such as sidewinds, lower average air density, open windows, differences in vehicle body/shape
- A 20% increase in rolling resistance was considered (2.4% increase in emissions), 15% of which is attributed to the use of lower energy class replacement tyres and 5% to the combined effect of winter tyres, deflated tyres and driving on wet roads
- The weighted effect of annual temperature variation on vehicle cold start emissions was estimated to be 2.9%; vehicle operation was assumed to take place at four different ambient temperatures 4, 12, 20 and 28 °C for 15, 35, 35 and 15% of the year respectively resulting in a mean annual temperature of 14 °C.
- Additional auxiliary electric loads were set equal to 250 W resulting in additional 6 gCO₂/km
- A constant increase of 2.5% was considered to account for the hysteresis in fuel consumption when driving at mild road grades of 0.5-1% (zero altitude change)
- An additional fuel consumption of 0.5 l/100 km due to the use of air-conditioning for 50% of the year (temperatures > 20 °C) resulting in a weighted average increase of 5%

Finally, the effect of the traffic conditions should be taken into account. Increases and decreases in fuel consumption and CO_2 emissions can occur, depending on the mix of traffic conditions, when comparing against conditions similar to those experienced over a cycle/trip with characteristics similar to those of the NEDC. The NEDC has a relatively mild mix of 36% urban driving and 64% extra urban driving with a total average speed of 33 km/h. Based on the results presented in Section 4.4, in the majority of traffic conditions fuel consumption lies between $\pm 15\%$ of the fuel consumption experienced at 33 km/h. The same range was assumed as the lower and upper boundary of the real-world emissions calculated in this exercise.

Fig. 7.1 presents the results of the gap calculation broken down to the main contributing factors. Starting from a baseline of 120 gCO₂/km, an additional 18 gCO₂/km would account for the margins of the present certification test and a more realistic baseline for an average European car would be at $138 \text{ gCO}_2/\text{km}$. With the main test margins addressed, an emissions level of 140 gCO₂/km could be considered as the low starting point of the upcoming WTLP certification scheme (16% increase compared to baseline). Other vehicle related factors such as mass, aerodynamics and road loads contribute another 10.4 gCO₂/km to the gap, 4.4, 2.6 and 3.4 gCO₂/km respectively each. Part of their effect is also likely to be captured by the WLTP as more strict definitions for vehicle mass and road loads are foreseen, which take into account the least favourable conditions (e.g. lowest energy class tyres, vehicle with higher aerodynamic resistance). The effect of annual temperature variation on cold start was estimated to contribute another 4.1 gCO₂/km. When including the temperature effect, vehicle emissions reach at $152.6 \text{ gCO}_2/\text{km}$, a value that could be viewed as the highest end point of the WLTP

Table 7.1

The potential influence of different factors on CO_2 emissions over real-world conditions compared to the official test value. Reported value (%) represents the median value extracted from literature. Error bars indicate the minimum-maximum values.

CATEGORY		FACTOR	MEDIAN	STD	-20%	0%	20%	40
Vehicle characteristics and sub-systems	Effect of mass and road loads	Vehicle mass	5%	3%	-20%			40,
		Aerodynamic resistance	2%	1%		-		
		Different energy class of replacement tyres	2%					
		Low rolling resistance tyres	-3%	2%		-		
	Factors affecting mass and road loads	Trailer towing	38%	4%				
		Roof racks/box (non laden)	5%	4%		-	4	
		Roof boxes (laden)	20%	6%				4
		Various roof addons	10%	5%		-		
	Auxiliary systems	A/C (cooling)	5%	4%		-	4	
		Heating (Electric heating or A/C)	6%	2%		- 		
		Steering assist systems	3%	3%		-		
		Other electrical consumers	16%	10%		- 		
	Friction and Lubricants	Low viscosity lubricants	-3%	1%		- 		
	Maintenance	Low tire pressure (0.25 bar deflation)	1%	1%		-		
Environmental and traffic conditions	Ambient temperature (compared to 20°C)	Temperature at -7°C	16%	6%				
		Temperature at 0°C	11%	5%		- -	.	
		Temperature at 10°C	5%	3%		-		
		Temperature at 30°C	-2%	2%				
	Altitude	Elevation of 1000 m	4%	1%		-		
	Road	Uphill driving (~1.5% grade)	9%	4%		- 	4	
		Road surface (roughness and texture)	3%	2%		-		
	Traffic	Congestion	32%	9%			,	
Driver and user related factors		Aggressive driving	23%	19%		-	_	
		Eco-driving techniques	-6%	3%	j			
		Advanced Driver Assistance Systems	-14%	6%	, <mark>-</mark>			
		Open windows (at 100 km/h)	4%	3%				
Certification test related factors		Adjustment of vehicle characteristics	6%	3%				
		Protocol design & boundaries	7%	10%				
		Homologation margin	4%					

(26.5% increase compared to baseline). Further to these contributors, additional electric consumption over realistic conditions, road grade and air conditioning would add an extra 5.9, 3.5 and 5.9 g/km respectively increasing the total real-world emissions to 168 gCO₂/km. The latter translates in a CO₂ gap of 40%, a value that is in line with the observations of several studies (see Fig. 2.2 and Table 1.1). Of course this estimate does not take into account the possible traffic conditions in which a vehicle may operate, but should be considered as an indicative average situation. Traffic conditions add substantial uncertainty to the calculation. Real-world emissions of the same vehicle could reach up to 193 gCO₂/km in cases of intense traffic or when driving at very high speeds. Similarly emissions could be as

low as $142.8 \text{ gCO}_2/\text{km}$ for mild speed, free-flow driving. In such extremes the difference from official emissions would be 61% and 19% respectively.

The above calculation should be viewed from a qualitative perspective rather than from a strictly quantitative one. The uncertainty behind the qualified assumptions made for the calculation remains high and difficult to quantify. In addition there are other factors influencing the performance of vehicles in real world. In reality not all factors are equally present. Calculations of higher accuracy would require the application of in-use weighing factors on each individual factor in Table 7.1 to account for its share in real-world operation. Highly influential factors, such as trailer towing, rarely occur hence



Fig. 7.1. Reality vs Certification gap estimation for an average 2015 passenger car; breakdown of factors contributing to the gap.

their contribution in the CO_2 gap is minimal. On the other hand, some factors, which on a first view appear less influential (e.g. side winds), might have a more significant contribution to the gap as vehicles are exposed to side winds when driven in highway conditions. Unfortunately, only scarce information can be found in existing literature that would allow a robust calculation of a realistic inuse share for each factor. Few studies are investigating how vehicles are actually used in real life, despite the fact that the real-world versus type approval fuel consumption gap is being frequently studied. In conclusion, the values presented here regarding the real-world CO_2 gap could be viewed as a realistic estimate of an average European situation on which additional more focused and thorough research can be based in order to support policy initiatives in the future and technology development in the future.

The upcoming WLTP is expected to address many of the limitations of the current legislation, including several of the issues highlighted in this paper. The values provided by the WLTP are expected to be closer to real-world driving conditions by about 26 \pm 6 gCO₂/km. However, WLTP cannot fully bridge the gap. The lack of quantified understanding of the real-world driving conditions is a problem that has to be addressed even after the new testing protocol is established in Europe. The main reason is that no single test, no matter how sophisticated and well designed, will ever be representative of the real-world operation of all vehicles and conditions. There are factors affecting fuel consumption in everyday operation which are neither included in the test nor easily identified. In order to reduce the gap and ensure that the on-road emissions are within a reasonable margin, there should be established some form of vehicle in-use monitoring contributing to the strategic target of reducing overall CO₂ emissions from the transport in the future. Vehicle manufacturers will eventually learn how to optimize vehicle performance over the new test procedure. Hence, attention should focus on the evolution of the gap over time, which shall not increase progressively, and on the underlying factors causing it. Furthermore, technology progresses fast and any test procedure sooner or later becomes outdated. Given the pace of new technology development, a more dynamic approach should be foreseen, including verification activities, continuous research on the topic and real-world data collection. Some form of ex-post calculation of the gap or correction of the in-use emissions estimates will be necessary for environmental, policy or consumer information purposes. Even if part of the road transport sector becomes electrified, the need to reduce energy consumption of vehicles will remain as mobility needs will continue to grow.

At this point it should be stressed that defining a single pan-European CO₂ emission targets and gap correction factors may not be the most effective approach for reducing road transport CO₂ emissions in real world. Each region has its own characteristics, particularities and mobility needs. Proposing actions tailored at regional level would maximize the CO₂ benefits but is very difficult due to the lack of data and information sources. Even at regional level, environmental, traffic and vehicle operating conditions may vary significantly making any estimates difficult to validate and policy initiatives difficult to assess. As discussed previously, there is a lack of consistent information generation and data collection practices that would facilitate the definition of a more precise "reality" and enable more accurate estimates of the real-world fuel consumption. These are issues which should be raised for further discussion by researchers, policy makers and other stakeholders, i.e. how additional information on traffic, environmental conditions, and vehicle characteristics can be generated and made available for more targeted research and in-depth analysis.

Achieving sustainable mobility is a challenge that surpasses the borders of individual countries or regions. It is important for the global scientific community to revisit the issue of road transport CO_2 emissions in a more systematic manner if we are to achieve the transition to a low-carbon transport sector.

Acknowledgements

Authors would like to thank the following people for their feedback, help and advice: Stefanos Tsiakmakis, Jelica Pavlovic, Stefano Malfettani, Konstantinos Anagnostopoulos, Alessandro Marotta, Uwe Tietge, Zifei Yang, Cosmin Codrea, Vicente Franco and Ian Hogdson. Authors express their gratitude to Anwar Haq for providing valuable scientific and editorial comments and for proof-reading the paper. Finally the authors would like to thank the anonymous reviewers for their constructive comments and reviews.

References

- [1] EEA. Total greenhouse gas emissions by sector (%) in EU-27, 2009. 2012.
- [2] European Commission, Reducing emissions from transport. http://ec.europa. eu/clima/policies/transport/index_en.htm; 2015 [accessed 12.01.15].
- [3] EEA. Final energy consumption by sector and fuel European Environment Agency. http://www.eea.europa.eu/data-and-maps/indicators/final-energyconsumption-by-sector-9/assessment; 2015 [accessed 25.08.16].
- [4] European Commission Directorate Genera Climate Action. Road transport: reducing CO₂ emissions from vehicles - European commission. http://ec. europa.eu/clima/policies/transport/vehicles/index_en.htm; 2016 Off Website [accessed 26.09.16].
- [5] ACEA. Reducing CO₂ emissions from cars and vans backgrounder. European Automobile Manufacturers' Association; 2014.
- [6] DG GROW. Automotive industry European commission. http://ec.europa.eu/ growth/sectors/automotive/index_en.htm; 2015 [accessed 15.05.16].
- [7] European Commission. White paper roadmap to a single European transport area – towards a competitive and resource efficient transport system /* COM/ 2011/0144 final */. 2011.
- [8] European Commission. Communication from the commission to the European parliament, the council, the European economic and social committee and the committee of the regions: a European strategy for low-emission mobility 2016.
- [9] European Commission. Regulation (EC) no 443/2009 of the European parliament and of the council setting emission performance standards for new passenger cars as part of the community's integrated approach to reduce CO₂ emissions from light-duty vehicles . 2009.
- [10] Archer G. Mind the gap. Transp Environ 2015.
- [11] Directive 80/1268/EEC. Council directive 80/1268/EEC of 16 December 1980 on the approximation of the laws of the member states relating to the fuel consumption of motor vehicles. 1980.
- [12] EEA. Monitoring of CO_2 emissions from passenger cars-regulation 443/2009 2015.
- [13] EEA. Reported CO_2 emissions from new cars continue to fall. EEA technical report; 2016.
- [14] EEA. Monitoring of CO_2 emissions from passenger cars regulation 443/2009 2016.
- [15] Mock P, German J. The future of vehicle emissions testing and compliance. Int Council Clean Transp 2015.
- [16] ECMT. Making cars more fuel efficient. Technology for real improvements on the road. Paris: International Energy Agency; 2005.
- [17] Zallinger M, Hausberger S. Measurement of CO₂ and fuel consumption from cars in the NEDC and in real world cycles. Technical University of Graz; 2009.
- [18] Dings J. Mind the gap! Why official car fuel economy figures don't match up to reality. Bruss Transp Environ 2013.
- [19] Tietge U, Zacharof N, Mock P, Franco V, German J, Bandivadekar A, et al. From laboratory to road - a 2015 update of official and "real-world" fuel consumption and CO₂ values for passenger cars in Europe. The International Council on Clean Transportation; 2015.
- [20] Weiss M, Bonnel P, Hummel R, Manfredi U, Colombo R, Lanappe G, et al. Analyzing on-road emissions of light-duty vehicles with portable emission measurement systems (PEMS). Luxembourg: Publications Office; 2011.
- [21] Mellios G, Hausberger S, Keller M, Samaras C, Ntziachristos L. Parameterisation of fuel consumption and CO₂ emissions of passenger cars and light commercial vehicles for modelling purposes. Luxembourg: Publications Office; 2011.
- [22] Ligterink NE. Real world CO₂ emissions: causes and effects. TNO; 2012.
- [23] Fontaras G, Dilara P. The evolution of European passenger car characteristics 2000–2010 and its effects on real-world CO₂ emissions and CO₂ reduction policy. Spec Sect Fuel Poverty Comes Age Commem 21 Years Res Policy 2012;49:719–30. doi: 10.1016/j.enpol.2012.07.021.
- [24] Ligterink N, Kadijk G, Hausberger S, Rexeis M. Investigations and real world emission performance of Euro 6 light-duty vehicles. TNO Dutch Ministry of Infrastructure and the Environment; 2013.
- [25] Mock P, Tietge U, Franco V, German J, Bandivadekar A, Ligterink N, et al. From laboratory to road: a 2014 update of official and "real - world" fuel consumption and CO₂ values for passenger cars in Europe. International Council on Clean Transportation, TNO, IFEU; 2014.
- [26] Zacharof N, Fontaras G, Ciuffo B, Tsiakmakis S, Anagnostopoulos K, Marotta A, et al. Review of in use factors affecting the fuel consumption and CO₂ emissions of passenger cars. Luxembourg: Euro Commission; 2015.
- [27] Tietge U, Zacharof N, Mock P, Franco V, German J, Bandivadekar A, et al. From laboratory to road - a 2015 update of official and "real-world" fuel consumption and CO₂ values for passenger cars in Europe. The International Council on Clean Transportation; 2015.
- [28] Duarte GO, Gonçalves GA, Farias TL. Analysis of fuel consumption and pollutant emissions of regulated and alternative driving cycles based on real-world measurements. Transp Res Part Transp Environ 2016;44:43–54. doi: 10.1016/j. trd.2016.02.009.
- [29] UTAC CERAM. Dossier de presse : résultats des contrôles des émissions de polluants atmosphériques et de CO₂ menés sur les 52 premiers véhicules 2016.
- [30] Kadijk G, van Mensch P, Spreen J. Detailed investigations and real-world emission performance of Euro 6 diesel passenger cars. Delft: TNO; 2015.
- [31] Ligterink NE, Eijik ARA. Real-world fuel consumption of passenger cars. TNO; 2014. doi: 10.13140/2.1.1252.3527.
- [32] Gibson G, Kollamthodi S, Kirsch F, Windisch E, Brannigan C, White B, et al. Evaluation of regulation 443 final report. Luxembourg: Publications Office; 2015.

- [33] Wilde HP., Kroon P. Policy options to reduce passenger cars CO₂ emissions after 2020. 2013.
- [34] Varma A, Newman D, Kay D, Gibson G, Beevor J, Skinner I, et al. Effect of regulations and standards on vehicle prices. AEA; 2011.
- [35] Haq G, Weiss M. CO₂ labelling of passenger cars in Europe: status, challenges, and future prospects. Energy Policy 2016;95:324–35. doi: 10.1016/j. enpol.2016.04.043.
- [36] Tsiakmakis S, Ciuffo B, Fontaras G, Anagnostopoulos K, Arcidiacono V, Praksova R, et al. Introducing a new emissions certification procedure for European light-duty vehicles: Monte Carlo Simulation of the potential effect on fleet carbon dioxide emissions. Transp Res Rec J Transp Res Board 2016;2572:66–77. doi: 10.3141/2572-08.
- [37] EPA. Many factors affect fuel economy. http://www.fueleconomy.gov/feg/factors.shtml; 2014 [accessed 18.09.14].
- [38] Iguchi M. Divergence and convergence of automobile fuel economy regulations. Cham: Springer International Publishing; 2015.
- [39] Mock P, editor. European vehicle market statistics pocketbook 2015/16. The International Council on Clean Transportation; 2015.
- [40] EEA. Climate change policies European environment agency. http://www. eea.europa.eu/themes/climate/policy-context; 2016 [accessed 15.05.16].
- [41] Michaelis P, Zerle P. From ACEA's voluntary agreement to an emission trading scheme for new passenger cars. J Environ Plan Manag 2006;49:435–53. doi: 10.1080/09640560600601686.
- [42] European Union. Decision no 1753/2000/EC of the European Parliament and of the council of 22 June 2000 establishing a scheme to monitor the average specific emissions of CO₂ from new passenger cars 2000.
- [43] Regulation (EU) No 333/2014. Regulation (EU) No 333/2014 of the European parliament and of the COUNCIL of 11 March 2014 amending regulation (EC) no 443/2009 to define the modalities for reaching the 2020 target to reduce CO 2 emissions from new passenger cars. 2014.
- [44] Regulation (EU) No 397/2013. Commission regulation (EU) no 397/2013 of 30 April 2013 amending regulation (EC) No 443/2009 of the European parliament and of the council as regards the monitoring of CO₂ emissions from new passenger cars text with EEA relevance. 2013.
- [45] Pastorello C, Mellios G. European environment agency, European topic centre for air pollution and climate change mitigation. Monitoring CO₂ emissions from passenger cars and vans in 2014. Luxembourg: Publications Office; 2015.
- [46] Kühlwein J, German J, Bandivadekar A. Development of test cycle conversion factors among worldwide light-duty vehicle CO₂ emission standards. International Council on Clean Transportation; 2014.
- [47] Yang Z. Improving the conversions between the various passenger vehicle fuel economy/CO₂ emission standards around the world international council on clean transportation. http://www.theicct.org/blogs/staff/improving-conversions-between-passenger-vehicle-efficiency-standards; 2014 [accessed 15.05.16].
- [48] Regulation (UN) No. 83. Addendum 82: regulation no. 83. Uniform provisions concerning the approval of vehicles with regard to the emission of pollutants according to engine fuel requirements. E/ECE/324/Rev.1/Add.82/Rev.4-E/ECE/ TRANS/505/Rev.1/Add.82/Rev.4 2011.
- [49] UNECE. Regulation no. 83 addendum 82: concerning the adoption of uniform technical prescriptions for wheeled vehicles, equipment and parts which can be fitted an d/or be used on wheeled vehicles and the conditions for reciprocal recognition of approvals granted on the basis of these prescriptions. 2011.
- [50] UNECE. Regulation no. 101 addendum 100: agreement concerning the adoption of uniform technical prescriptions for wheeled vehicles, equipment and parts which can be fitted and/or be used on wheeled vehicle s and the conditions for reciprocal recognition of approvals granted on the basis of these prescriptions. 2013.
- [51] Kågeson P. Cycle-beating and the EU test cycle for cars. Brussels: European Federation for Transport and Environment; 1998.
- [52] Ligterink NE. Real world CO₂ emissions: causes and effects. TNO; 2012.
- [53] Mock P, Kühlwein J, Tietge U, Franco V, Bandivadekar A, German J. The WLTP: how a new test procedure for cars will affect fuel consumption values in the EU 2014.
- [54] Franco V, Kousoulidou M, Muntean M, Ntziachristos L, Hausberger S, Dilara P. Road vehicle emission factors development: a review. Atmos Environ 2013;70:84–97. doi: 10.1016/j.atmosenv.2013.01.006.
- [55] André M, Joumard R, Vidon R, Tassel P, Perret P. Real-world European driving cycles, for measuring pollutant emissions from high- and low-powered cars. Atmos Environ 2006;40:5944–53. doi: 10.1016/j.atmosenv.2005.12.057.
- [56] Hausberger S, Rexeis M, Zallinger M, Luz R. Emission factors from the model PHEM for the HBEFA version 3. Graz: TU - Graz; 2009.
- [57] Ntziachristos L, Samaras Z. EMEP/EEA emission inventory guidebook 2013 -exhaust emissions from road transport, passenger cars, light commercial trucks, heavy duty vehicles including buses and motor cycles, 2013.
- [58] Marotta A, Tutuianu M. Europe-centric light duty test cycle and differences with respect to the WLTP cycle Technical report - Task 7. Joint Research Centre; 2012.
- [59] Ciuffo B, Marotta A, Tutuianu M, Anagnostopoulos K, Fontaras G, Pavlovic J, et al. Development of the worldwide harmonized test procedure for light-duty vehicles: pathway for implementation in European Union Legislation. Transp Res Rec J Transp Res Board 2015;2503:110–8. doi: 10.3141/2503-12.
- [60] Mock P, German J. The future of vehicle emissions testing and compliance. International Council on Clean Transportation; 2015.
- [61] Michelin. The tyre. Rolling resistance and fuel savings. 2013.

- [62] Van den Brink RMM, Van Wee B. Why has car-fleet specific fuel consumption not shown any decrease since 1990? Quantitative analysis of Dutch passenger car-fleet specific fuel consumption. Transp Res Part Transp Environ 2001;6:75– 93. doi: 10.1016/S1361-9209(00)00014-6.
- [63] Fontaras G, Kouridis H, Samaras Z, Elst D, Gense R. Use of a vehicle-modelling tool for predicting CO₂ emissions in the framework of European regulations for light goods vehicles. Atmos Environ 2007;41:3009–21. doi: 10.1016/j.atmosenv.2006.12.004.
- [64] Meyer I, Wessely S. Fuel efficiency of the Austrian passenger vehicle fleet—analysis of trends in the technological profile and related impacts on CO₂ emissions. Energy Policy 2009;37:3779–89. doi: 10.1016/j.enpol.2009.07.011.
- [65] Stewart A, Hope-Morley A, Mock P, Tietge U. Quantifying the impact of realworld driving on total CO₂ emissions from UK cars and vans final report for the committee on climate change. 2015.
- [66] ACEA. Emissions testing: some common misconceptions setting the record straight. http://www.acea.be/publications/article/emissions-testing-somecommon-misconceptions-setting-the-record-straight; 2015 [accessed 24.0816].
- [67] DeCicco J, Fung F, An F. DeCicco, J., F. Fung and F. An (2010). Carbon burdens from new car sales in the United States. Driving Climate Change: Cutting Carbon from Transportation 2010.
- [68] Zhang S, Wu Y, Liu H, Huang R, Un P, Zhou Y, et al. Real-world fuel consumption and CO₂ (carbon dioxide) emissions by driving conditions for light-duty passenger vehicles in China. Energy 2014;69:247–57. doi: 10.1016/j. energy.2014.02.103.
- [69] Pelkmans L, Debal P. Comparison of on-road emissions with emissions measured on chassis dynamometer test cycles. Transp Res Part Transp Environ 2006;11:233–41. doi: 10.1016/j.trd.2006.04.001.
- [70] EPA. Regulatory announcement: EPA issues new test methods for fuel economy window stickers 2006.
- [71] EPA. Draft technical assessment report: midterm evaluation of light-duty vehicle greenhouse gas emission standards and corporate average fuel economy standards for model years 2022–2025. 2016.
- [72] EPA. Detailed test information n.d. https://www.fueleconomy.gov/feg/fe_test_schedules.shtml [accessed 16.05.2016].
- [73] Code of Federal Regulations. Title 40, sec. 86 2011.
- [74] European Commission. Commission Implementing Regulation (EU) No 725/ 2011 of 25 July 2011 establishing a procedure for the approval and certification of innovative technologies for reducing CO₂ emissions from passenger cars pursuant to Regulation (EC) No 443/2009 of the European Parliament and of the Council. 2011.
- [75] Regulation (EU) No 510/2011. Regulation (EU) No 510/2011 oF the European Parliament and of the Council of 11 May 2011 setting emission performance standards for new light commercial vehicles as part of the Union's integrated approach to reduce CO₂ emissions from light-duty vehicles. 2011.
- [76] Pagerit S, Sharer P, Rousseau A. Fuel economy sensitivity to vehicle mass for advanced vehicle powertrains, 2006. doi:10.4271/2006-01-0665.
- [77] Natural Resources Canada. Learn the facts: weight affects fuel consumption. http://www.nrcan.gc.ca/energy/efficiency/transportation/cars-light-trucks/ buying/16755; 2016 [accessed 11.10.2016].
- [78] Wohlecker R, Johannaber M, Espig M. Determination of weight elasticity of fuel economy for ICE, hybrid and fuel cell vehicles, 2007. doi:10.4271/2007-01-0343.
- [79] Crolla D. Automotive engineering, powertrain. Chassis system and vehicle body. 1st ed. Butterworth-Heinemann an Imprint of Elsevier; 2009.
- [80] Bishop JDK, Martin NPD, Boies AM. Cost-effectiveness of alternative powertrains for reduced energy use and CO₂ emissions in passenger vehicles. Appl Energy 2014;124:44–61. doi: 10.1016/j.apenergy.2014.02.019.
- [81] Van Mensch P, Ligterink NE, Cuelenaere RFA. The effect of road load due to variations in valid coast down tests for passenger cars, 2014.
- [82] De Haan P. Reduktionswirkungen beim AutoEnergieCheck 2012.
- [83] FORUM Umweltbildung. Information: mobilität. http://www.co2-rechner.at/ infoitem.asp?section=mobility&subsection=vehicles; 2008 [accessed 6.11.2014].
- [84] Mock P. EU consumer organizations asking for more realistic vehicle testing. International Council on Clean Transportation; 2012.
- [85] Goodyear. Goodyear. (2013). Tipps zur Kraftstoffeinsparung. http://www. goodyear.eu/de_de/tire-advice/safe-driving/driving-tips/fuel-saving-tips.jsp; 2013.
- [86] EPA. EPA (Environmental Protection Agency). Many factors affect MPG. http:// www.fueleconomy.gov/feg/factors.shtml; 2014 [accessed 22.07.2014].
- [87] Sullivan JL, Baker RE, Boyer BA, Hammerle RH, Kenney TE, Muniz L, et al. CO₂ emission benefit of diesel (versus gasoline) powered vehicles. Environ Sci Technol 2004;38:3217–23. doi: 10.1021/es034928d.
- [88] Ombach G, Junak J. Weight and efficiency optimization of auxiliary drives used in automobile. IEEE; 2010. p. 1–6. doi: 10.1109/ICELMACH.2010.5608280.
- [89] Fontaras G, Samaras Z. On the way to 130 g CO₂/km–Estimating the future characteristics of the average European passenger car. Energy Policy 2010;38:1826–33.
- [90] Smokers R, Fraga F, Verbeek M. Support for the revision of regulation (EC) No 443/2009 on CO₂ emissions from cars. Serv Req 2011: 1.
- [91] European Commission. Reducing car weight and cutting down greenhouse gas emissions - transport - research & innovation - European commission 2009.
- [92] Mickū naitis V, Pikūnas A, Mackoit I. Reducing fuel consumption and CO₂ emission in motor cars. Transport 2007;22:160–3. doi: 10.1080/ 16484142.2007.9638119.

- [93] Penny IJ, Whelan S, Jackson NS, Cooper BG. Future emissions trends and technologies to meet them. International conference on automotive technology-ICAT; 2004. p. 97–108.
- [94] EcoDrive. Treibstoffsparen ist keine Hexerei. http://www.ecodrive.ch/uploads/ other/1283425900_SchweizerischeGewerbezeitung27082010.pdf; 2010.
- [95] VW. Volkswagen AG. Mehr wissen, weniger verbrauchen. Thnik Blue. Artikel-Nr. 078.3200.09.01 2010 2010 http://www.volkswagen.de/content/medialib/ vwd4/de/Volkswagen/Nachhaltigkeit/service/download/spritspartipps/ vw_thinkblue_spritsparbrorzde/_jcr_content/renditions/rendition.file/spritspartipps_par_0011_file.pdf.
- [96] VDA. Verband der Automobilindustrie. Klimaschutz durch Fahrzeugleichtbau. http://www.vda.de/de/arbeitsgebiete/klimaschutz_leichtbau/index.html; 2011 2011.
- [97] ADAC. ADAC Spartipps: Das verbrauchen Dachträger, Dachbox und Co. http:// dachbox.info/adac-spritspartipps-das-verbrauchen-dachtrager-dachbox-undco/ 2012. [accessed 11.02.2016].
- [98] Löhrer R, Schwizer E. Treibstoffverbrauch Werksangabe vs. Praxis. Touring Club Schweiz Knowboard Nr. 63_2. Emmen; 2013.
- [99] Elgowainy A, Rousseau A, Wang M, Ruth M, Andress D, Ward J, et al. Cost of ownership and well-to-wheels carbon emissions/oil use of alternative fuels and advanced light-duty vehicle technologies. Energy Sustain Dev 2013;17:626–41. doi: 10.1016/j.esd.2013.09.001.
- [100] Kobayashi S, Plotkin S, Ribeiro SK. Energy efficiency technologies for road vehicles. Energy Effic 2009;2:125–37. doi: 10.1007/s12053-008-9037-3.
- [101] Hucho W, Sovran G. Aerodynamics of road vehicles. Warren, Michigan: Gen Mot Res Environ Staff Warren; 1993. p. 48090–9055.
- [102] Howey D, North R, Martinez-Botas R. Road transport technology and climate change mitigation. Grantham Inst Clim Change Imp Coll Lond 2010: 10.
- [103] Fontaras G, Dilara P. The evolution of European passenger car characteristics 2000–2010 and its effects on real-world CO₂ emissions and CO₂ reduction policy. Spec Sect Fuel Poverty Comes Age Commem 21 Years Res Policy 2012;49:719–30. doi: 10.1016/j.enpol.2012.07.021.
- [104] Chowdhury H, Alam F, Khan I, Djamovski V, Watkins S. Impact of vehicle addons on energy consumption and greenhouse gas emissions. Procedia Eng 2012;49:294–302. doi: 10.1016/j.proeng.2012.10.140.
- [105] Gilliéron P, Kourta A. Automobile et environnement: contribution de la recherche aérodynamique à la réduction des gaz à effet de serre. Mécanique Ind 2008;9:519–31. doi: 10.1051/meca/2009016.
- [106] Bansal R, Sharma RB. Drag reduction of passenger car using add-on devices. J Aerodyn 2014;2014:13. doi: 10.1155/2014/678518.
- [107] Sharma RB, Bansal R. Aerodynamic drag reduction of a passenger car using spoiler with VGs. Int J Eng Res Appl IJERA 2014: 256–63.
- [108] Sudin MN, Abdullah MA, Ramli FR, Musthafah MT, Shamsudin SA. Review of research on vehicles aerodynamic drag reduction methods. Int J Mech Mechatron Eng 2014;14:35–47.
- [109] T&E.. Reducing car CO₂ emissions through the use of low rolling resistance tyres. European Federation for Transport and Environment; 2007.
- [110] Regulation (EC) No 1222/2009. Regulation (EC) no 1222/2009 of the European parliament and of the council of 25 November 2009 on the labelling of tyres with respect to fuel efficiency and other essential parameters (Text with EEA relevance). 2009.
- [111] Goodyear. EU tire label explained. http://www.goodyear.eu/home_en/goodyear-quality/eu-tire-label/index.jsp; 2014 [accessed on 31.07.14].
- [112] Pike E. Tire energy efficiency. International council on clean transportation. 2011.
- [113] Regulation (UN) No. 11. Addendum 116: Regulation No. 11. Uniform provisions concerning the approval of tyres with regard to rolling sound emissions and to adhesion on wet surfaces and/or to rolling resistance 2011.
- [114] Maagøe V. Review of the tyre labelling regulation, Copenhagen. 2016.
- [115] Mellios G, Hausberger S, Keller M, Samaras C, Ntziachristos L. Parametrization of fuel consumption and CO₂ emissions of passenger cars and light commercial vehicles for modelling purposes. Jt Res Cent Luxemb Eur Comm 2011.
- [116] Ligterink N, Smokers RT, Spreen J, Mock P, Tietge U. Supporting analysis on realworld light-duty vehicle CO₂ emissions. Delft, the Netherlands: TNO; 2016.
- [117] DG Climate Action. Data gathering and analysis to assess the impact of mileage on the cost effectiveness of the LDV CO₂ regulations. 2014.
- [118] The AA. GERMANY. (Central Europe) touring tips. http://www.theaa.com/ motoring_advice/touring_tips/germany.pdf; 2014 [accessed on 20.11.14].
- [119] Continental. Relevance of the EU tire label, 2012.
- [120] DOE EPA. Many factors affect fuel economy. http://www.fueleconomy.gov/ feg/factors.shtml; 2014 [accessed on 18.09.14].
- [121] Lenner M. Influence of roof rack, trailer etc on automobile fuel consumption and exhaust emissions, measured on-the-road. doi: 10.4271/980682 SAE technical paper; 1998.
- [122] Thomas J, Huff S, West B. Fuel economy and emissions effects of low tire pressure, open windows, roof top and hitch - mounted cargo and trailer. . doi: 10.4271/2014-01-1614 SAE technical paper; 2014.
- [123] Halfords. Halfords online store. Roof boxes section. http://www.halfords.com/ camping-car-seats/roof-bars-boxes/roof-boxes; 2014 [accessed on 15.07.15].
- [124] EcoDrive. Dachträger erhöhen Spritverbrauch. http://www.ecodrive.ch/uploads/ other/1300110616_Dachtrger_VCSAutoumweltlisteFebruar2011.pdf; 2011.
- [125] Chen Y, Meier A. Fuel consumption impacts of auto roof racks. Energy Policy 2016;92:325–33. doi: 10.1016/j.enpol.2016.02.031.
- [126] Schipper L. Automobile use, fuel economy and CO₂ emissions in industrialized countries: encouraging trends through 2008? Transp Policy 2011;18:358–72. doi: 10.1016/j.tranpol.2010.10.011.

- [127] Nemry F, Leduc G, Mongelli I, Uihlein A. Environmental improvement of passenger cars (IMPRO-car). Inst Prospect Technol Stud 2008.
- [128] Leduc G, Mongelli I, Uihlein A, Nemry F. How can our cars become less polluting? An assessment of the environmental improvement potential of cars. Transp Policy 2010;17:409–19. doi: 10.1016/j.tranpol.2010.04.008.
- [129] ika RWTH. CO₂ reduction potentials for passenger cars until 2020: management summary. RWTH Aachen University; 2012.
- [130] Carlson RB, Wishart J, Stutenberg K. On-road and dynamometer evaluation of vehicle auxiliary loads. SAE Int J Fuels Lubr 2016;9:260–8. doi: 10.4271/2016-01-0901.
- [131] Kühnlenz F. 48 V past, present, future an essay on a possible 48 V development direction. 2015.
- [132] Welstand JS, Haskew HH, Gunst RF, Bevilacqua OM. Evaluation of the effects of air conditioning operation and associated environmental conditions on vehicle emissions and fuel economy. SAE Technical Paper; 2003.
- [133] Heinz S. Investigations for an amendment of the EU directive 93/116/EC (measurement of fuel consumption and CO₂ emission). Institute for vehicle technology and mobility FKZ 201 45 105; 2005.
- [134] Rugh J, Lawrence C, Lustbader J, Meyer J, Rustagi M, Olson K. Reduction in vehicle temperatures and fuel use from cabin ventilation, solar - reflective paint and a new solar - reflective glazing. SAE International vol. NREL/CP-540-40986; 2007.
- [135] Roujol S, Joumard R. Influence of passenger car auxiliaries on pollutant emission factors within the Artemis model. Atmos Environ 2009;43:1008–14. doi: 10.1016/j.atmosenv.2008.01.016.
- [136] Mock P, German J, Bandivadekar A, Riemersma I, Ligterink N, Lambrecht U. From laboratory to road: a comparison of official and "real-world" fuel consumption and CO₂ values for cars in Europe and the United States. International Council on Clean Transportation; 2013.
- [137] Hill N, Walker E, Beevor J, James K. Guidelines to defra/DECC's GHG conversion factors for company reporting: methodology paper for emission Factors. Department of energy and climate change (DECC) and the department for environment, food and rural affairs (Defra). United Kingdom 2011: Published by the Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs PB13625; 2011.
- [138] VALEC Auto Concept. The evolving percentage of new vehicles equipped with air conditioning. 2002.
- [139] Kemle A, Manski R, Harald R, Weinbrenner M. Reduction of fuel consumption in air conditioning systems. SAE Technical PaperSAE paper No. 2008-28-2005; 2008.
- [140] Weilenmann MF, Alvarez R, Keller M. Fuel consumption and CO₂/pollutant emissions of mobile air conditioning at fleet level - new data and model comparison. Environ Sci Technol 2010;44:5277–82.
- [141] Dena. Dena. (2013). Welches Auto passt zu mir? 2013.
- [142] TUG, LAT, KTI, TNO. Mobile air conditioning (MAC). Stakehold Meet Bruss 2010 29-06-2010.
- [143] De Moura MBB, Tribess A. Climate control system improvements for better cabin environmental conditions and reduction of fuel consumption. SAE Technical Paper; 2007.
- [144] OEAMTC. Österreichischer automobil-, motorrad- und touring club. Klimaanlagenverbrauchstest. 2012.
- [145] ADAC. Mehrverbrauch durch Klimaanlagen. Versuchsfahrzeug: Skoda Octavia 1.6; 2012.
- [146] Farrington R, Rugh J. Impact of vehicle air conditioning on fuel Economy, tailpipe emissions and electric vehicle range, national renewable energy laboratory - U.S. Department of Energy Laboratory; 2000.
- [147] Nielsen F, Uddheim Å, Dalenbäck JO. Potential energy consumption reduction of automotive climate control systems. Appl Therm Eng 2016;106:381–9. doi: 10.1016/j.applthermaleng.2016.05.137.
- [148] Feuerecker G, Schafer B, Strauss T. Auxiliary heating systems of conventional and heat pump type: technology, performance and efficiency. SAE Technical Paper; 2005.
- [149] Hoffmann MJ. Ceramic applications in the automotive industry. Institute of applied materials ceramics in mechanincal engineering; 2011.
- [150] Nikolian A, Fontaras G, Marotta A, Dilara P. CO₂ emissions for Euro5 passenger cars over different driving and load conditions. 2012.
- [151] Sonchal C, Gajankush J, Kulkarni A, Pawar S. Energy efficient hydraulic power assisted steering system. doi: 10.4271/2012-01-0976 SAE Technical Paper; 2012.
- [152] Wellenzohn M. Improved fuel consumption through steering assist with power on demand. SAE Technical Paper; 2008.
- [153] Pfeffer P, Johnston D, Sokoloa M. Energy consumption of electro-hydraulic steering systems. SAE Technical Paper; 2005.
- [154] Lin J, Pfeffer P, Harrer M. Energy analysis of power steering systems during a newly developed driving cycle. SAE Int J Mater Manuf 2011;4:359–68. doi: 10.4271/2011-01-0230.
- [155] Reif K, Dietsche KH. Automotive handbook. 8th ed. Robert Bosch GmbH; 2011.
- [156] ADL. Market and technology study automotive power electronics. 2014.
 [157] European Commission. Technical Guidelines for the preparation of applications for the approval of innovative technologies pursuant to Regulation (EC) No 443/2009 of the European Parliament and of the Council (version: February 2013). Directorate-general climate action directorate c the joint research centre. Institute for Energy and Transport Unit F.8 Sustainable Transport; 2013.
- [158] Vehicle manufacturers experts. Personal communication 2016.
- [159] Johnson V. Fuel used for vehicle air conditioning: a state-by-state thermal comfort-based approach. doi: 10.4271/2002-01-1957 SAE Technical Paper 2002-01-1957; 2002.

- [160] Huhn W. Low energy automotive lighting. Converg Transp Electron Assoc SAE Int 2008.
- [161] DADR. Why the European Commission's proposal of mandatory motorcar daytime running lights is wrong 2006.
- [162] European Commission. Daytime running lights for all new vehicles from 2011 to increase road safety 2011. http://europa.eu/rapid/press-release_IP-08-1394_en.htm?locale=en [accessed on 25.08.16].
- [163] Dudenhöffer F, John EM. EU-Normen für verbrauchsangaben von autos: mehr als ein ärgernis für autokäufer. Institut für Wirtschaftsforschung an der Universität München; 2009.
- [164] 2013/128/EU. Commission Implementing Decision of 13 March 2013 on the approval of the use of light emitting diodes in certain lighting functions of an M1 vehicle as an innovative technology for reducing CO 2 emissions from passenger cars pursuant to Regulation (EC) No 443/2009 of the European Parliament and of the Council. 2013.
- [165] 2016/160/EU. Commission Implementing Decision (EU) 2016/160 of 5 February 2016 on the approval of the Toyota Motor Europe efficient exterior lighting using light emitting diodes as an innovative technology for reducing CO₂ emissions from passenger cars pursuant to Regulation (EC) No 443/2009 of the European Parliament and of the Council. 2016.
- [166] 2014/128/EU. Commission Implementing Decision of 10 March 2014 on the approval of the light emitting diodes low beam module "E-Light" as an innovative technology for reducing CO 2 emissions from passenger cars pursuant to Regulation (EC) No 443/2009 of the European Parliament and of the Council. 2014.
- [167] 2015/206/EU. COMMISSION IMPLEMENTING DECISION (EU) 2015/206 of 9 February 2015 on the approval of the Daimler AG efficient exterior lighting using light emitting diodes as an innovative technology for reducing CO₂ emissions from passenger cars pursuant to Regulation (EC) No 443/2009 of the European Parliament and of the Council. 2015.
- [168] 2014/806/EU. Commission Implementing Decision of 18 November 2014 on the approval of the battery charging Webasto solar roof as an innovative technology for reducing CO 2 emissions from passenger cars pursuant to Regulation (EC) No 443/2009 of the European Parliament and of the Council. 2014.
- [169] 2015/279/EU. Commission Implementing Decision (EU) 2015/279 of 19 February 2015 on the approval of the battery charging Asola solar roof as an innovative technology for reducing CO 2 emissions from passenger cars pursuant to Regulation (EC) No 443/2009 of the European Parliament and of the Council Text. 2015.
- [170] 2013/341/EU. Commission Implementing Decision of 27 June 2013 on the approval of the Valeo Efficient Generation Alternator as an innovative technology for reducing CO 2 emissions from passenger cars pursuant to Regulation (EC) No 443/2009 of the European Parliament and of the Council. 2013.
- [171] 2014/465/EU. Commission Implementing Decision of 16 July 2014 on the approval of the DENSO efficient alternator as an innovative technology for reducing CO 2 emissions from passenger cars pursuant to Regulation (EC) No 443/2009 of the European Parliament and of the Council and amending Commission Implementing Decision 2013/341/EU. 2014.
- [172] 2015/2280/EU. Commission Implementing Decision (EU) 2015/2280 of 7 December 2015 on the approval of the DENSO efficient alternator as an innovative technology for reducing CO_2 emissions from passenger cars pursuant to Regulation (EC) No 443/2009 of the European Parliament and of the Council. 2015.
- [173] 2015/158/EU. Commission Implementing Decision (EU) 2015/158 of 30 January 2015 on the approval of two Robert Bosch GmbH high efficient alternators as the innovative technologies for reducing CO 2 emissions from passenger cars pursuant to Regulation (EC) No 443/2009 of the European Parliament and of the Council. 2015.
- [174] 2015/295/EU. Commission Implementing Decision (EU) 2015/295 of 24 February 2015 on the approval of the MELCO GXi efficient alternator as an innovative technology for reducing CO 2 emissions from passenger cars pursuant to Regulation (EC) No 443/2009 of the European Parliament and of the Council. 2015.
- [175] Holmberg K, Andersson P, Erdemir A. Global energy consumption due to friction in passenger cars. Tribol Int 2012;47:221–34. doi: 10.1016/j.triboint.2011.11.022.
- [176] European Commission. Review and analysis of the reduction potential and costs of technological and other measures to reduce CO_2 -emissions from passenger cars. Final Report. Contract Nr. SI2.408212; 2006.
- [177] Dena. Servicetipp: Leichtlauföle! 2009.
- [178] UBA. CO₂-emissionsminderung im verkehr in deutschland. mögliche massnahmen und ihre minderungspotenziale. Dessau- Rosslau.http://www.umweltbundesamt.de/sites/default/files/medien/461/publikationen/3773.pdf 2010.
- [179] AGVS. Wo beim Treibstoffverbrauch noch grosses Sparpotenzial liegt 2013.
- [180] IEA Saving oil in a hurry. Paris. http://www.iea.org/publications/freepublications/publication/savingoil.pdf 2005.
- [181] Heywood JB. Internal combustion engine fundamentals. New York: McGraw-Hill; 1988.
- [182] Andrews G, Ounzain A, Li H, Bell M, Tate J, Ropkins K. The use of water/lube oil heat exchanger and enhanced cooling water heating to increase water and lube oil heating rates in passenger cars for reduced fuel consumption and CO₂ emissions during cold start. SAE Technical PaperJSAE 20077354; 2007.
- [183] Honda A, Murakami M, Kimura Y, Ashihara K, Kato S, Kajiki Y. Research into engine friction reduction under cold conditions -effect of reducing oil leakage on bearing friction. doi: 10.4271/2014-01-1662 SAE Technical Paper2014-01-1662; 2014.

- [184] Hawley JG, Bannister CD, Brace CJ, Akehurst S, Pegg I, Avery MR. The effect of engine and transmission oil viscometrics on vehicle fuel consumption. Proc Inst Mech Eng Part J Automob Eng 2010;224:1213–28. doi: 10.1243/ 09544070]AUT01534.
- [185] Evans L, Harris J, Salaani MK, MacIsaac Jr J. NHTSA tire rolling resistance test development project-phase 2. 22nd international technical conference on enhanced safety of vehicles ESV; 2011.
- [186] Directive 2014/45/EU. Directive 2014/45/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 3 April 2014 on periodic roadworthiness tests for motor vehicles and their trailers and repealing Directive 2009/40/EC. 2014.
- [187] ADAC. Reifen-Luftdruck kontrollieren 2012. http://www.adac.de/infotestrat/ tanken-kraftstoffe-und-antrieb/spritsparen/sparen-beim-fahren-antwort-8. aspx [accessed on 10.02.16].
- [188] EAPA EUROBITUM.. Environmental impacts and fuel efficiency of road pavements. Ind Rep 2004 March 2004.
- [189] TRB. Tires and passenger vehicle fuel economy: informing consumers, improving performance – special report 286, Washington, DC: The National Academies Press; 2006.
- [190] Pearce JM, Hanlon JT. Energy conservation from systematic tire pressure regulation. Energy Policy 2007;35:2673–7. doi: 10.1016/j.enpol.2006.07.006.
- [191] Bridgestone Tires. Tire alignment: what you need to know 2016. http://www. bridgestonetire.com/tread-and-trend/drivers-ed/tire-alignment [accessed on 25.08.16].
- [192] Michelin. When should I check my wheel alignment? 2014. http://www. michelin.co.uk/tyres/learn-share/care-guide/wheel-alignment [[accessed on 06.06.14].
- [193] Holmberg K, Andersson P, Nylund N-O, Mäkelä K, Erdemir A. Global energy consumption due to friction in trucks and buses. Tribol Int 2014;78:94–114. doi: 10.1016/j.triboint.2014.05.004.
- [194] Ahn K. Microscopic fuel consumption and emission modelling. Virginia State University; 1998.
- [195] Pedders. Wheel alingment brochure n.d. http://www.pedders.com.au/sites/ default/files/docs/product/WheelAlignment-brochure.pdf [accessed on 31.07.14].
- [196] Goodyear. Factors affecting truck fuel economy 2012.
- [197] Thomas J, West B, Huff S. Effect of air filter condition on diesel vehicle fuel economy. doi: 10.4271/2013-01-0311 SAE technical paper; 2013.
- [198] Norman K, Huff S, West B. Effect of intake air filter condition on vehicle fuel economy. Oak Ridge National Laboratory for the U.S. Department of Energy; 2009.
- [199] EPA. Gas Mileage Tips Driving More Efficiently. Fuel Econ 2016. http://www. fueleconomy.gov/feg/driveHabits.jsp [accessed on 15.09.16].
- [200] Eglin S. Hinter dem Steuer Energie und Geld sparen. Birsigtal Bote 2012.
- [201] Mock P, German J, Bandivadekar A, Riemersma I. Discrepancies between typeapproval and "real-world" fuel consumption and CO₂ values - assessment for 2001-2011 European passenger cars.. International Council on Clean Transportation; 2012.
- [202] Burgess SC, Choi JMJ. A parametric study of the energy demands of car transportation: a case study of two competing commuter routes in the UK. Transp Res Part Transp Environ 2003;8:21–36. doi: 10.1016/S1361-9209(02)00016-0.
 [203] BFE. Sichere, leise und energieeffiziente Reifen 2012.
- [204] Barrand J, Bokar J. Reducing tire rolling resistance to save fuel and lower emissions. SAE Int J Passeng Cars - Mech Syst 2008;1:9–17. doi: 10.4271/2008-01-0154.
- [205] VW. Be aware and save fuel. Think blue 2010.
- [206] André M. 73–84. The Artemis European driving cycles for measuring car pollutant emissions. Sci Total Environ 2004: 334–5. doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2004.04.070.
- [207] Autobild. Was Autos zu Säufern macht. 2009. http://www.autobild.de/artikel/ grosser-verbrauchstest-947126.html [accessed 6.11.14].
- [208] EPA. EPA (Environmental Protection Agency). Gas mileage tips—driving more efficiently 2014. http://www.fueleconomy.gov/feg/driveHabits.jsp [accessed 22.07.14].
- [209] Rugh J, Hovland V, Andersen S. Significant fuel savings and emission reductions by improving vehicle air conditioning. National Renewable Energy Laboratory; 2004.
- [210] Bennett J, Chudasama D. The use of low viscosity oils to improve fuel economy in light duty diesel engines. doi: 10.4271/2000-01-2054 SAE Technical Paper2000-01-2054; 2000.
- [211] Annelie KarlssonRC, Dolk Ellen. Energy use generated by traffic and pavement maintenance. Decision support for optimization of low rolling resistance maintenance treatments. VTI notat 36A-2012 Dnr 2009/0701-29, 2012.
- [212] Cummins. Cummins MPG Guide. Secrets of better fuel economy the physics of MPG http://cumminsengines.com/uploads/docs/cummins_secrets_of_better_fuel_economy.pdf ([accessed 29.07.14].
- [213] DOE EPA. Fuel Economy in Cold Weather 2014. http://www.fueleconomy.gov/ feg/coldweather.shtml [accessed 18.09.14].
- [214] Ligterink NE, Eijik ARA. Real-world fuel consumption of passenger cars, 2014.[215] Snyder. The rolling losses and fuel economy an R & D planning workshop. EDC
- Library Ref. No. 1038. Cambridge, MA: Trasnsportation Systems Center; 1977. [216] Alvarez R, Weilenmann M. Effect of low ambient temperature on fuel consump-
- tion and pollutant and CO₂ emissions of hybrid electric vehicles in real-world conditions. Fuel 2012;97:119–24. doi: 10.1016/j.fuel.2012.01.022.
- [217] Dardiotis C, Martini G, Marotta A, Manfredi U. Low-temperature cold-start gaseous emissions of late technology passenger cars. Appl Energy 2013;111:468– 78. doi: 10.1016/j.apenergy.2013.04.093.

- [218] Dössegger L. Diskrepanz zwischen norm und realverbrauch bei personenwagen. Swiss Federal Institute of Technology Zurich - Department of Environmental Systems Science Bachelor thesis; 2013.
- [219] Joumard R, Andre M, Laurikko J, Le Anh T, Geivanidis S, Samaras Z, et al. Accuracy of exhaust emissions measurements on vehicle bench (Artemis deliverable 2). 2006.
- [220] Li H, Andrews G, Savvidis D. Influence of cold start and ambient temperatures on greenhouse gas emissions, global warming potential and fuel economy for SI car real world driving. SAE Technical Paper; 2010.
- [221] Lohsse Busch H, Duoba M, Rask E, Stutenberg K, Gowri V, Slezak L, et al. Ambient temperature (20°F, 72°F and 95°F) Impact on fuel and energy consumption for several conventional vehicles, hybrid and plug - in hybrid electric vehicles and battery electric vehicle. . doi: 10.4271/2013-01-1462 SAE Technical Paper; 2013.
- [222] Gillot R, Picarelli A, Dempsey M. Predicting the effect of gearbox preconditioning on vehicle efficiency, 2015, p. 135–41. doi:10.3384/ecp15118135.
- [223] Will F, Boretti A. A new method to warm up lubricating oil to improve the fuel efficiency during cold start. SAE Int J Engines 2011;4:175–87. doi: 10.4271/ 2011-01-0318.
- [224] Klein ECA&D, Tank AMG, Coauthors. Daily dataset of 20th century surface air temperature and precipitation series for the European Climate Assessment. Int J Climatol 2002;22:1441–53 Data and metadata available at http://www.ecad. eu 2014.
- [225] Joumard R, Laurikko J, Le Han T, Geivanidis S, Samaras Z, Merétei T, et al. Accuracy of exhaust emission factor measurements on chassis dynamometer. J Air Waste Manag Assoc 2009;59:695–703. doi: 10.3155/1047-3289.59.6.695.
- [226] Weilenmann M, Favez J-Y, Alvarez R. Cold-start emissions of modern passenger cars at different low ambient temperatures and their evolution over vehicle legislation categories. Atmos Environ 2009;43:2419–29. doi: 10.1016/j.atmosenv.2009.02.005.
- [227] Bielaczyc P, Woodburn J, Szczotka A. Low ambient temperature cold start emissions of gaseous and solid pollutants from euro 5 vehicles featuring direct and indirect injection spark - ignition engines. SAE Int J Fuels Lubr 2013;6(3). doi: 10.4271/2013-24-0174.
- [228] Christenson M, Loiselle A, Karman D. The effect of driving conditions and ambient temperature on light duty gasoline - electric hybrid vehicles (2): fuel consumption and gaseous pollutant emission rates. SAE Technical Paper, SAE paper No. 2007-01-2137; 2007.
- [229] JRC. Experimental analysis based on internal data. 2014.
- [230] Dardiotis C, Fontaras G, Marotta A, Martini G, Manfredi U. Emissions of modern light duty ethanol flex-fuel vehicles over different operating and environmental conditions. Fuel 2015;140:531–40. doi: 10.1016/j.fuel.2014.09.085.
- [231] Toyota. Tips for improved fuel efficiency 2014. http://www.toyota.co.nz/ourrange/the-toyota-difference/fuel-ecomomy/ [accessed 10.03.14].
- [232] Efficiency E, Energy R. Evaluation of 2004 Toyota Prius hybrid electric drive system 2006.
- [233] 2013/451/EU. Commission implementing decision of 10 September 2013 on the approval of the Daimler engine compartment encapsulation system as an innovative technology for reducing CO 2 emissions from new passenger cars pursuant to Regulation (EC) No 443/2009 of the European Parliament and of the Council. 2013.
- [234] 2016/362/EU. Commission Implementing Decision (EU) 2016/362 of 11 March 2016 on the approval of the MAHLE Behr GmbH & Co. KG enthalpy storage tank as an innovative technology for reducing CO₂ emissions from passenger cars pursuant to Regulation (EC) No 443/2009 of the European Parliament and of the Council. 2016.
- [235] Gajendra Singh M, Nagourwala Q H, Nassar A, Shankapal S R. Numerical investigations on crosswind aerodynamics and its effect on the stability of a passenger car. SAE Technical Paper, SAE Paper No. 2009-26-059; 2009.
- [236] Lawson A, Dominy R, Sims-Williams D, Mears P. A comparison between onroad and wind tunnel surface pressure measurements on a mid-sized hatchback. SAE Int 2007.
- [237] Landström C, Walker T, Löfdahl L. Effects of ground simulation on the aerodynamic coefficients of a production car in yaw conditions. SAE Technical Paper; 2010.
- [238] Altinisik A, Yemenici O, Umur H. Aerodynamic analysis of a passenger car at yaw angle and two-vehicle platoon. J Fluids Eng 2015;137:121107. doi: 10.1115/1.4030869.
- [239] Liu L, Lu H, Wang Y, Zhao W, Li M. and 939. A study on the performance of normally aspirated light-duty gasoline vehicle at different altitudes. Qiche Gongcheng/Autom Eng 2014;36:929–34.
- [240] Zervas E. Impact of altitude on fuel consumption of a gasoline passenger car. Fuel 2011;90:2340-2. doi: 10.1016/i.fuel.2011.02.004.
- [241] DriverSide. Top 10 factors contributing to fuel economy http://www.driverside. com/auto-library/top_10_factors_contributing_to_fuel_economy-317 [accessed 18 09 14]
- [242] Wyatt DW, Li H, Tate JE. The impact of road grade on carbon dioxide (CO₂) emission of a passenger vehicle in real-world driving. Transp Res Part Transp Environ 2014;32:160-70. doi: 10.1016/j.trd.2014.07.015.
- [243] Park S, Rakha H. Energy and environmental impacts of roadway grades 2005;06–0628.
- [244] Boriboonsomsin K, Barth M. Fuel and CO₂ impacts from advanced navigation systems tha account for road grade. TRB 2009. doi: 10.3141/2139-03.
- [245] LGAM. Road roughness http://www.lgam.info/road-roughness [accessed 8.11.14].

- [246] Pavement Interactive. Roughness 2007. http://www.pavementinteractive.org/ article/roughness/#footnote-1 [accessed 8.11.14].
- [247] MnDOT. Introduction to international roughness index. Bituminous smoothness training workshop; 2007.
- [248] Green SMA, Ulm FJ, Gregory J. Pavement roughness and fuel consumption. Concr Sustain Hub MIT 2013.
- [249] Road Surface Texture Measurement. DPLTI. Recommended investigatory levels. Goverment of South Australia 2013.
- [250] Boere SW, van Blokland GJ. Influence of road surface properties on rolling resistance of car tyres. 2008.
- [251] Lopez I. Influence of material damping on the prediction of road texture and tread pattern related rolling resistance. In: Proceedings of international conference on noise vibration engineering ISMA; 2010. p. 4039–52.
- [252] Willis RJ, Robbins MM, Thompson M. Effects on pavement properties on vehicular rolling resistance: a literature review. NCAT 2015.
- [253] Ardekani S, Sumitsawan P. Effect of pavement type on fuel consumption and emissions in city driving. The University of Texas at Arlington; 2010.
- [254] Spalding S. RACQ congested roads report. RACQ Veh Technol Dep 2008.
- [255] Grote M, Williams I, Preston J, Kemp S. Including congestion effects in urban road traffic CO₂ emissions modelling: do local government authorities have the right options? Transp Res Part Transp Environ 2016;43:95–106. doi: 10.1016/j. trd.2015.12.010.
- [256] Demuynck J, Bosteels D, De Paepe M, Favre C, May J, Verhelst S. Recommendations for the new WLTP cycle based on an analysis of vehicle emission measurements on NEDC and CADC. Energy Policy 2012;49:234–42. doi: 10.1016/j. enpol.2012.05.081.
- [257] P.Hummel WeissMB, R.Steininger N. A complementary emissions test for light duty vehicels: assessing the technical feasibility of candidate procedures, JRC Scientific and Policy Reports Report EUR 25572 EN; 2013.
- [258] Greenwood I. B C. The effects of traffic congestion on fuel consumption 2003.
- [259] Merkisz J, Fuć P, Lijewski P, Bielaczyc P. The comparison of the emissions from light duty vehicle in on-road and NEDC tests. SAE Technical Paper; 2010.
- [260] Millard-Ball A, Schipper L. Are we reaching peak travel? Trends in passenger transport in eight industrialized countries. Rochester, NY: Social Science Research Network; 2010.
- [261] Abou-Senna H, Radwan E. VISSIM/MOVES integration to investigate the effect of major key parameters on CO₂ emissions. Transp Res Part Transp Environ 2013;21:39–46. doi: 10.1016/j.trd.2013.02.003.
- [262] Fontaras G, Franco V, Dilara P, Martini G, Manfredi U. Development and review of Euro 5 passenger car emission factors based on experimental results over various driving cycles. Sci Total Environ 2014: 468–9 1034–42. doi:10.1016/j. scitotenv.2013.09.043.
- [263] Schmied M. The European handbook of emission factor for road transport (HBEFA) 2014.
- [264] Ntziachristos L, Gkatzoflias D, Kouridis C, Samaras Z. COPERT: a European road transport emission inventory model. In: Athanasiadis IN, Rizzoli AE, Mitkas PA, Gomez JM, editors. Information technologies environmental engineering proceedings of 4th international ICSC symposium Thessalon. Greece May 28-29 2009, Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg: 2009. p. 491–504.
- [265] Fontaras G, Pistikopoulos P, Samaras Z. Experimental evaluation of hybrid vehicle fuel economy and pollutant emissions over real-world simulation driving cycles. Atmos Environ 2008;42:4023–35. doi: 10.1016/j.atmosenv.2008.01.053.
- [266] Barth M, Boriboonsomsin K. Real-world carbon dioxide impacts of traffic congestion. Transp Res Rec J Transp Res Board 2008;2058:163–71. doi: 10.3141/ 2058-20.
- [267] Smit R, Brown AL, Chan YC. Do air pollution emissions and fuel consumption models for roadways include the effects of congestion in the roadway traffic flow. Environ Model Softw 2008;23:1262–70. doi: 10.1016/j. envsoft.2008.03.001.
- [268] De Vlieger I, De Keukeleere D, Kretzschmar JG. Environmental effects of driving behaviour and congestion related to passenger cars. Atmos Environ 2000;34:4649–55. doi: 10.1016/S1352-2310(00)00217-X.
- [269] Schrank D, Eisele B, Lomax T. TTI's 2012 urban mobility report. Tex AM Transp Inst Tex AM Univ Syst 2012.
- [270] Fonseca N, Casanova J, Valdés M. Influence of the stop/start system on CO₂ emissions of a diesel vehicle in urban traffic. Transp Res Part Transp Environ 2011;16:194–200. doi: 10.1016/j.trd.2010.10.001.
- [271] Hill N, Windisch E, Kirsch F, Horton G, Dun C, Hausberger S, et al. Improving understanding of technology and costs for CO₂ reductions from cars and LCVs in the period to 2030 and development of cost curves. 2016.
- [272] Shancita I, Masjuki HH, Kalam MA, Rizwanul Fattah IM, Rashed MM, Rashedul HK. A review on idling reduction strategies to improve fuel economy and reduce exhaust emissions of transport vehicles. Energy Convers Manag 2014;88:794–807. doi: 10.1016/j.enconman.2014.09.036.
- [273] Whittal I. Off-cycle fuel consumption evaluation of stop-start systems. SAE Int J 2012. doi: 10.4271/2012-01-1601.
- [274] Caldow J. Feeling the pain: the impact of traffic congestion on commuters 2008.
- [275] Saboohi Y, Farzaneh H. Model for developing an eco-driving strategy of a passenger vehicle based on the least fuel consumption. Appl Energy 2009;86:1925–32. doi: 10.1016/j.apenergy.2008.12.017.
- [276] Dandrea J. Coaching the professional driver, vol. 23, Northwestern University. Evanston: Kraft Foods Company; 1986. p. 20.
- [277] Tsokolis D, Tsiakmakis S, Dimaratos A, Fontaras G, Pistikopoulos P, Ciuffo B, et al. Fuel consumption and CO₂ emissions of passenger cars over the new worldwide harmonized test protocol. Appl Energy 2016;179:1152–65. doi: 10.1016/j.apenergy.2016.07.091.

- [278] European Commission. Regulation (EC) No 443/2009 of the European parliament and of the council setting emission performance standards for new passenger cars as part of the community's integrated approach to reduce CO_2 emissions from light-duty vehicles . 2009.
- [279] Ika RWTH. CO₂ reduction potentials for passenger cars until. Management summary. RWTH Aachen University; 2012. p. 2020.
- [280] Brundell-Freij K, Ericsson E. Influence of street characteristics, driver category and car performance on urban driving patterns. Transp Res Part Transp Environ 2005;10:213–29. doi: 10.1016/j.trd.2005.01.001.
- [281] Ericsson E. Variability in urban driving patterns. Transp Res Part Transp Environ 2000;5:337–54. doi: 10.1016/S1361-9209(00)00003-1.
 [282] Beusen B, Broekx S, Denys T, Beckx C, Degraeuwe B, Gijsbers M, et al. Using on-
- [282] Beusen B, Broekx S, Denys T, Beckx C, Degraeuwe B, Gijsbers M, et al. Using onboard logging devices to study the longer-term impact of an eco-driving course. Transp Res Part Transp Environ 2009;14:514–20. doi: 10.1016/j. trd.2009.05.009.
- [283] Barkenbus JN. Eco-driving: an overlooked climate change initiative. Energy Policy 2010;38:762–9. doi: 10.1016/j.enpol.2009.10.021.
- [284] André M, Pronello C. Relative influence of acceleration and speed on emissions under actual driving conditions. Int J Veh Des 1997;18:340–53. doi: 10.1504/ IJVD.1997.062058.
- [285] Gao Y, Checkel MD. Experimental measurement of on-road CO₂ emission and fuel consumption functions 2007. doi:10.4271/2007-01-1610.
- [286] BMW. BMW EfficientDynamics. Less emissions. More Driving Pleasure 2014 http://www.bmw.com/com/en/insights/technology/efficientdynamics/ phase_1/measures_ecopro.html [10.7.2014].
- [287] BMW. Sport mode http://www.bmw.com/com/en/insights/technology/technology_guide/articles/sport_mode.html; 2014 [accessed 10.7.2014].
- [288] Toyota. FAQs how does sport mode change my 2014 corolla driving experience and how do I operate it? 2014. http://toyota.custhelp.com/app/answers/ detail/a_id/7869/~/how-does-sport-mode-change-my-2014-corolla-drivingexperience-and-how-do-i [accessed 10.7.2014].
- [289] VW. Driver profile selection. http://www.volkswagen.co.uk/technology/driving/driver-profile-selection; 2014 [accessed 10.7.2014].
- [290] Cars.com. Do all those driving modes affect a car's EPA gas mileage? http:// blogs.cars.com/kickingtires/2013/06/do-all-those-driving-modes-affect-acars-epa-gas-mileage.html; 2014 [accessed 10.7.2014].
- [291] Toyota. Hybrid driving Toyota's top tips for best fuel economy. Http://blog. toyota.co.uk 2013. http://blog.toyota.co.uk/hybrid-driving-technique-toyotastop-tips-for-achieving-the-best-fuel-economy-in-your-hybrid#.VFzY9mN-GUik.
- [292] Honda. Accord plug in: drive system. 2014 http://automobiles.honda.com/ accord-plug-in/drive-system.aspx.
- [293] Haworth N, Symmons M. Driving to reduce fuel consumption and improve road safety. Monash Univ Accid Res Cent Httpwww Rsconference CompdfRS010036 Pdf 2001.
- [294] NRCAN. Fuel-efficient Driving Techniques. http://www.nrcan.gc.ca/energy/ efficiency/transportation/cars-light-trucks/fuel-efficient-driving-techniques/ 7507; 2013 [accessed 9.10.2014].
- [295] Kato H, Ando R, Kondo Y, Suzuki T, Matsuhashi K, Kobayashi S. Comparative measurements of the eco-driving effect between electric and internal combustion engine vehicles. Electric vehicle symposium and exhibition EVS27 2013 world; 2013. p. 1–5. doi: 10.1109/EVS.2013.6914843.
- [296] Vagg C, Brace CJ, Wijetunge R, Akehurst S, Ash L. Development of a new method to assess fuel saving using gear shift indicators. Proc Inst Mech Eng Part J Automob Eng 2012;226:1630–9. doi: 10.1177/0954407012447761.
- [297] Varnhagen R, Korthaus C. Reduction of fuel consumption with intelligent use of navigation data. SAE Technical Paper; 2010.
- [298] Nakajo T, Tsuchiya K, Konno M. Comparison of fuel economy and exhaust emission tests of 4WD vehicles using single-axis chassis dynamometer and dualaxis chassis dynamometer. SAE Int J Fuels Lubr 2011;5:329–36. doi: 10.4271/ 2011-01-2058.
- [299] Paul A, Chauhan R, Srivastava R, Baruah M. Advanced driver assistance systems, 2016. doi:10.4271/2016-28-0223.
- [300] ACEA. New study demonstrates potential of ITS to cut CO₂ from heavy-duty vehicles ACEA - European automobile manufacturers' association. http://www. acea.be/news/article/new-study-demonstrates-potential-of-its-to-cut-co2from-heavy-duty-vehicles; 2016 [accessed 16.10.16].
- [301] Wiethoff M, Oei HL, Penttinen M, Anttila V, Marchau VAWJ. Advanced driver assistance systems: an overview and actor position. IFAC Proc Vol 2002;35:1–6. doi: 10.3182/20020721-6-ES-1901.01468.
- [302] TATA Consultancy. TCS Advanced Driver Assistance Systems Brochure 2015. http://www.tcs.com/SiteCollectionDocuments/Brochures/advanced-driverassistance-systems-0115-1.pdf [accessed 16.10.16].
- [303] Jiménez F, Naranjo JE, Anaya JJ, García F, Ponz A, Armingol JM. Advanced driver assistance system for road environments to improve safety and efficiency. Transp Res Procedia 2016;14:2245–54. doi: 10.1016/j.trpro.2016.05.240.
- [304] ICT Emissions. Development of a methodology and tool to evaluate the impact of ICT measures on road transport emissions 2015. http://www.ict-emissions. eu/about/ ([accessed 16.10.16]).
- [305] ICT Emissions. ICT Emissions Handbook 2015.
- [306] ERTICO. ITS for reducing CO₂ emission of passenger cars. http://erticonetwork. com/its-for-reducing-co2-emission-of-passenger-cars/ [accessed 16.10.16]; 2015.
- [307] 2013/529/EU. Commission implementing decision of 25 October 2013 on the approval of the Bosch system for navigation-based preconditioning of the battery state of charge for hybrid vehicles as an innovative technology for reducing

CO 2 emissions from passenger cars pursuant to Regulation (EC) No 443/2009 of the European Parliament and of the Council. 2013.

- [308] 2015/1132/EU. Commission Implementing Decision (EU) 2015/1132 of 10 July 2015 on the approval of the Porsche AG coasting function as an innovative technology for reducing CO₂ emissions from passenger cars pursuant to Regulation (EC) No 443/2009 of the European Parliament and of the Council. 2015.
- [309] Auto Alliance. EcoDriver's manual a guide to increasing your mileage & reducing your carbon footprint. 2011.
- [310] EEA. Passenger transport occupancy. 2006.
- [311] EEA. Car occupancy rates Figure. 2010.
- [312] Fontaras G, Manfredi U, Martini G, Dilara P, Deregibus G. Experimental assessment of a diesel-LPG dual fuel supply system for retrofit application in city busses 2012. doi:10.4271/2012-01-1944.
- [313] Volvo Buses. Coach fuel consumption. Environ Blog 2013 https://volvobusenvironmentblog.com/2013/09/12/coach-fuel-consumption/ [accessed 16.05.16].
- [314] EU: Fuels: diesel and gasoline transportpolicy.net. TransportPolicy.net 2015. http://www.transportpolicy.net/index.php?title=EU:_Fuels:_Diesel_and_Gasoline ([accessed 27.10.16).
- [315] EurObserv'ER. Biofuel barometer. 2014.
- [316] Lapuerta M, Armas O, Rodríguez-Fernández J. Effect of biodiesel fuels on diesel engine emissions. Prog Energy Combust Sci 2008;34:198–223. doi: 10.1016/j. pecs.2007.07.001.
- [317] Kousoulidou M, Ntziachristos L, Fontaras G, Martini G, Dilara P, Samaras Z. Impact of biodiesel application at various blending ratios on passenger cars of different fueling technologies. Fuel 2012;98:88–94. doi: 10.1016/j.fuel.2012.03.038.
- [318] Delgado R, Susanna P. Effect of different ethanol gasoline blends on exhaust emissions and fuel consumption. doi: 10.4271/2012-01-1273 SAE technical paper2012-01-1273; 2012.
- [319] DOE EPA. Ethanol. http://www.fueleconomy.gov/feg/ethanol.shtml; 2014 [accessed 18.11.14].
- [320] Arnault N, Monsallier G. Diesel fuel filter designs for cold weather. doi: 10.4271/2014-01-2711 SAE technical paper; 2014.
- [321] EN-590:2004. Automotive fuels Diesel Requirements and test methods. 2004.
- [322] Ericsson E. Independent driving pattern factors and their influence on fuel-use and exhaust emission factors. Transp Res Part Transp Environ 2001;6:325–45. doi: 10.1016/S1361-9209(01)00003-7.
- [323] EEA. Owner related fuel economy improvements. 2001.
- [324] Lenaers G. Real life CO₂ emission and consumption of four car powertrain technologies related to driving behaviour and road type. SAE Int; 2009.
- [325] Nam E, Gierczak C, Butler J. A comparison of real-world and modeled emissions under conditions of variable driver aggressiveness. Dearborn, MI: Ford Scientific Research Laboratory. 2101 Village Road. MD 3083/ SRL 48121-42053; 2003.
- [326] Berry MI. The effects of driving style and vehicle performance on the real-world fuel consumption of U.S. light-duty vehicles. Department of Mechanical Engineering. Massachusetts Institute of Technology; 2010.

- [327] Greene D, Khattak A, Liu J, Hopson JL, Wang X, Goeltz R. How do Motorists' own fuel economy estimates compare with official government ratings? A statistical analysis. The Howard H. Baker Jr. Center for Public Policy; 2015.
- [328] Weiss M, Bonnel P, Hummel R, Manfredi U, Colombo R, Lanappe G, et al. Analyzing on-road emissions of light-duty vehicles with portable emission measurement systems (PEMS). Luxembourg: Publications Office; 2011.
- [329] Tsokolis D, Tsiakmakis S, Triantafyllopoulos G, Kontses A, Toumasatos Z, Fontaras G, et al. Development of a template model and simulation approach for quantifying the effect of WLTP introduction on light duty vehicle CO₂ emissions and fuel consumption, 2015. doi:10.4271/2015-24-2391.
- [330] Ligterink N, Kadijk G, Hausberger S, Rexeis M. and real world emission performance of Euro 6 light-duty vehicles. TNO Dutch Minist Infrastruct Environ 2013.
- [331] Joumard R, André M, Vidon R, Tassel P, Pruvost C. Influence of driving cycles on unit emissions from passenger cars. Atmos Environ 2000;34:4621–8. doi: 10.1016/S1352-2310(00)00118-7.
- [332] Kadijk G, Verbeek M, Smokers R, Spreen J, Patuleia A, Van Ras M, et al. European Commission – DG CLIMA. TNO. Final report date: December 5th, 2012, 2012.
- [333] Marotta A, Ciuffo B, Pavlovic J, Serra S, Anagnostopoulos K, Arcidiacono V, et al. Insight into procedural differences between NEDC and WLTP and their possible impact on CO₂ emissions from type-approval of light-duty vehicles. Washington DC: Transportation Research Board; 2016.
- [334] Transport Policy. Japan: light-duty: 10–15 Mode. http://transportpolicy.net/ index.php?title=Japan:_Light-duty:_10-15_Mode; 2016 [accessed 25.08.16].
- [335] Diese INet. Emission test cycles: Japanese 10–15 Mode. https://www.dieselnet.com/standards/cycles/jp_10-15mode.php; 2013 [accessed 16.05.16].
- [336] IPEEC. Japan's fuel economy. http://www.ipeec.org/blog/view/id/795.html; 2014 [accessed 16.05.16].
- [337] JAMA. From 10•15 to JC08: Japan's new economy formula 2009.
- [338] Sumida S. Research into raising the maximum speed limit for light motor vehicles and motorcycles on national expressways. IATSS Res 2002;26:25–37. doi: 10.1016/S0386-1112(14)60040-6.
- [339] European Commission. Current speed limit policies European commission. http://ec.europa.eu/transport/road_safety/specialist/knowledge/speed/speed_ limits/current_speed_limit_policies_en.htm; 2015 [accessed 16.05.16].
- [340] DieselNet. Emission standards: USA: Cars GHG emissions and fuel economy. https://www.dieselnet.com/standards/us/fe_ghg.php; 2013 [accessed 16.05.16].
- [341] Regulation (EC) No 692/2008. Regulation (EC) NO 692/2008. 2008.
- [342] Dimaratos A, Tsokolis D, Fontaras G, Tsiakmakis S, Ciuffo B, Samaras Z. Comparative evaluation of the effect of various technologies on light-duty vehicle CO₂ emissions over NEDC and WLTP. Transp Res Procedia 2016;14:3169–78. doi: 10.1016/j.trpro.2016.05.257.
- [343] Pavlovic J, Marotta A, Ciuffo B, Serra S, Fontaras G, Anagnostopoulos K, et al. Correction of test cycle tolerances: evaluating the impact on CO₂ results. Transp Res Procedia 2016;14:3099–108. doi: 10.1016/j.trpro.2016.05.250.